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Financial Highlight

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Revenue 2,504,965 2,243,024 2,002,984 1,649,915 1,758,246
Profit from operations 388,899 486,636 584,755 517,063 781,168
Profit before taxation 450,306 544,087 592,143 515,077 781,690
Income tax (117,740) (130,763) (142,572) (128,741) (198,604)
      

Profit for the year 332,566 413,324 449,571 386,336 583,086
      

Profit attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 237,790 251,519 275,209 242,170 344,561
Non-controlling interests 94,776 161,805 174,362 144,166 238,525

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings  
  per share (RMB) 0.97 1.09 1.67 1.47 2.21

Total comprehensive income 
  for the year 342,537 414,021 446,242 386,712 583,087
      

Total comprehensive income  
  attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 242,211 251,902 273,342 242,463 344,562
Non-controlling interests 100,326 162,119 172,900 144,249 238,525
      

Total non-current assets 718,626 585,962 417,548 322,729 188,746
Total current assets 4,998,375 4,765,931 2,709,354 2,624,675 2,630,322
      

Total assets 5,717,001 5,351,893 3,126,902 2,947,404 2,819,068
      

Total current liabilities 1,585,904 1,461,678 1,591,905 1,548,556 1,641,340
Total non-current liabilities 92,274 19,215 567 314 2,755
      

Total liabilities 1,678,178 1,480,893 1,592,472 1,548,870 1,644,095
      

Net Asset 4,038,823 3,871,000 1,534,430 1,398,534 1,174,973
      

Total equity attributable to the equity  
  shareholders of the Company 3,653,440 3,467,619 1,156,827 1,045,335 802,872
Non-controlling interests 385,383 403,381 377,603 353,199 372,101
      

TOTAL EQUITY 4,038,823 3,871,000 1,534,430 1,398,534 1,174,973
      

The financial information of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 was extracted 

from Appendix I to the Prospectus, which set forth details of the basis of presentation for the audited consolidated 

financial statements. The financial information of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2015 was set 

forth on pages 67 to 144 to this report, which was presented on the basis set forth in Note 2(b) to the audited 

consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Structure

The following chart sets out our corporate structure up to the Latest Practicable Date:

Shenzhen Poly Culture
Development Co.,Ltd

Poly Group
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Major Events in 2015

In January 2015, Poly Theatre Management’s original musical “Nie Xiaoqian and Ning Caichen” was granted the 
“Grand Jury Prize” of the 4th China Dongguan Musical Festival by Chinese Musicians Association and the Bureau 
of Culture, Radio, Film, Television, Press and Publication of Dongguan.

In April, 2015, Poly Auction Beijing was awarded as the “Auction House of the Year” by “2014 China Art Power 
List” held by L’OFFICIEL ART.

In April 2015, Poly Theatre Management received from DAO LUE Center for Culture Industry Research (道略演藝
產業研究中心) the honorary titles of “2014 Top Ten Chinese Performing Arts Institutions”.

In May 2015, Poly Culture was chosen among the “Top 30 National Culture Enterprises” jointly sponsored by 
Guangming Daily and Economic Daily for the seventh time following 2008, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014.

During the period from May 31, 2015 till June 8, 2015, Poly Auction Beijing held the “Spring Auction of Poly 
Auction Beijing 2015” which recorded a total turnover of about RMB3,320 million.

In June 2015, Poly Theater Management received from DAO LUE Center for Culture Industry Research the honorary 
titles of “2014 Top Five China Mini Concert Hosting Institutions”.

In June 2015, Poly Guiyang Yitiancheng Cinema, under management by Poly Film, commenced operation, which 
marked the official opening of the 26th directly-operated cinema under Poly Film.

In September 2015, Poly Theatre Management entered into a management agreement with Zhuhai Grand Theatre, 
which marked the 43rd grand theatre managed by Poly Theatre Management in China.

In October 2015, premiere staged at Beijing Poly Theatre, “Yinding Bridge” became the first original play following 
four original musicals staged by Poly Theatre Management.

In October 2015, Xu Niansha, the chairman of Poly Group, visited the United Kingdom (the “UK”) following President 
Xi Jinping. During the visit, the Company and UK Ambassadors Theatre entered into a long-term collaboration 
agreement, opening up a new partnership model of cooperation between international theatres and Poly Culture.

In October 2015, the Company and the Central Conservatory of Music held a strategic agreement signing ceremony 
and the Poly WeDo music project opening ceremony. Robert Block, an American famous pianist and dean of 
Music at Yale University, was appointed as the advisor of Poly WeDo music project.

In December 2015, “the 2015 Autumn Art Auction” held by Poly Auction Beijing rounded off with a total turnover 
of about RMB2.95 billion, bringing the Company’s total turnover from art auctions to RMB8.7 billion in 2015, 
representing an increase of 13% from the previous year, which enabled the Company to secure the sixth consecutive 
crown in terms of annual turnover from global auctions of Chinese arts.
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Chairman’s Statement

The year 2015 was the closing chapter for the “Twelfth Five-year Plan” in China, as well as a year for Poly Culture 
to conclude and review its last Five-year Plan. For the preceding five years, with the deceleration and changes in 
macro-economy, we have experienced the significant ups and downs in the arts market and witnessed the thriving 
development of cultural industry in China. Against the macro background of adjusting economic structure and 
shifting economic growth, Poly Culture centered on its three main businesses, namely performance and theatre 
management, art business and auction and cinema investment and management. Oriented towards market needs, 
we are well-prepared and progressing steadily. We have achieved all the development targets throughout the 
Five-year Plan, and have successfully entered into the capital market at Hong Kong in 2014.

The year 2016 is the opening year of the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”, as well as the first year for Poly Culture 
to upgrade its strategies, businesses and team efforts. Leveraging on the strategic opportunities brought by the 
“One-Belt-One-Road” policy of China, we will carry out our globalization strategy in full force to further consolidate 
our existing business strength, we will also develop strategies in relation to “channels” and “contents” as well 
as explore and cultivate a culture for share and export, to establish a world famous cultural brand and strive to 
become the pioneer in leading Chinese culture to go global.

The inherent difficulties entail extraordinary courage, and only persistent efforts befit this commendable cause. Poly 
Culture will confidently make progress through innovations, to make unremitting efforts in building the flagship of 
cultural industry in China. Meanwhile, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my deepest appreciation to 
all investors, shareholders and professional institutions for their trust and support to Poly Culture. We bear the 
responsibility given by you seriously and we are motivated to make greater advances.

Xu Niansha
Chairman

0 0 6
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2015, China’s GDP growth experienced a continuing slowdown with a 6.9% year-on-year growth rate, which is 
the first time to fall below 7.0% since 2009. Affected by the macroeconomic environment, the domestic art market 
underwent a deep adjustment. To proactively adapt to the new normal, Poly Culture explored new business on the 
basis of three principal business segments, speeded up the pace of merging culture industry with other industries, 
and actively explored the path of “going global”, therefore all aspects of work have been proceeding steadily.

I.	 SEGMENT BUSINESS INFORMATION

1.	 Art business and auction business actively responded to market slowdown 
to increase market share against the trend and secure leading position

In the face of unfavorable market conditions, riding on the opportunity of the 10th anniversary of Poly 
Auction Beijing, Poly Culture adjusted its operation strategy, took advantage of multi platforms and 
strengthened marketing effort. The total annual turnover of artworks in 2015 amounted to RMB8.7 
billion, representing an increase of 13% 
from the year 2014, which made the sixth 
consecutive year for the Company to top 
the global auction market of Chinese 
artworks. In a situation where the overall 
turnover of both domestic and overseas 
enterprises engaging in Chinese artwork 
auctions shrank, Poly Culture managed to 
secure a further increase in market share.

Stressing on its boutique strategy, Poly 
Auction Beijing put additional effort in 
marketing and soliciting business to 
accentuate the strength of its brand, while 
appropriately decreasing the number of 
auction items, adjusting inventory structure 
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Management Discussion and Analysis

and conducting strict cost control. Poly 
Auction Beijing optimized its multi-
platform advantage, combined customer 
sources and realized interactions among 
cities including Beijing, Xiamen and 
Shandong. The annual auction turnover 
of the year 2015 increased by 15% as 
compared with that of 2014, reaching 
RMB7.04 billion, of which RMB3.32 billion 
was generated from the Spring Auction 
and RMB2.95 billion was generated from 
the Autumn Auction. The company has 
secured the fifteenth consecutive top 
position in terms of annual turnover for 
the corresponding period in the domestic 
market.

Poly Auction Hong Kong persisted on the 
feature of selecting genuine, exquisite and 
rare artworks, explored deeply into the Hong 
Kong market and specifically organized 
small auctions on certain themes. In the 
year of 2015, the accumulated auction turnover was about HKD2.08 billion, representing an increase 
of 5% from 2014, which further consolidated the market position of Poly Auction Hong Kong as the 
third largest auction company in the Hong Kong market.

Poly Art Centre properly expanded short-term investment and direct selling business, and enthusiastically 
explored display and exhibition consulting business to maintain a stable operation.

Poly Art Investment innovated investment directions, improved its service mode, added three new fund 
projects amounting to RMB71 million in 2015, and successfully completed three fund projects amounting 
to RMB270 million. As of December 31, 2015, Poly Art Investment had six ongoing projects amounting 
to RMB621 million.

0 0 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2.	 The scale of theatre network under performance and theatre management 
business expanded steadily, further reinforcing leading position in the industry

Poly Theatre Management newly took over Chongqing Shiguangnan Grand Theatre, Hubei Qianjiang 
Caoyu Grand Theatre, Changsha Concert Hall and Zhuhai Grand Theatre in 2015, and completed 
contract renewal with theatres in Hefei, Yantai, Huizhou and Lishui, etc., reaching a total of 43 
theatres under its management and consolidating its leading position in the industry.

In face of the shrinking business in 
performance group buying and charter 
services, Poly Theatre Management 
enhanced promoting and marketing 
efforts. During the year of 2015, it staged 
5,400 performances in total, which 
accounted for 110% of its annual target. 
Poly Theatre Management spent extra 
effort on original repertoires production 
and staged more than a hundred tour 
performances, among which there were 
drama “Yinding Bridge”, musical “Nie 
Xiaoqian and Ning Caichen”, child play “I 
love Fairy Tales” and musical “Ah! Guling”.

As for theatre construction consultation 
business, six new service contracts were 
entered into during the year of 2015. A 
total of 22 projects were undergoing 
consultation process, keeping on 
collecting potential projects for the 
expansion of our theatre network.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

3.	 Cinema investment and management business seized the market opportunities, 
witnessing cinema box office surging

In 2015, the domestic film market continued to grow rapidly and recorded an annual cinema box 

office of RMB44 billion, representing an increase of 48.7% from the year 2014. Poly Film seized 

the benefits brought by the rapid market growth and opened five new cinemas during the year 

of 2015, raising the number of current directly-operated cinemas in operation to 26. The cinemas 

directly-operated by Poly Film recorded a total box office of RMB507 million for the year, representing 

an increase of 64% from the year 2014. As of December 31, 2015, Poly Film had nine cinema 

projects initiated and 33 cinema projects initiated while pending for construction, providing a sound 

foundation for its future development.

Poly Film introduced international advanced technology and concepts to strengthen technical 

research and development. It designed and built a POLY DIAMOND conceptual screening room 

located at Beijing Dongba Cinema, while continuing to promote POLYMAX giant-screen projection 

technology. It also successfully explored POLYMINI, a product designed for second-tier film projection 

market. The aforesaid three techniques initially formed the framework of Poly Film systematic 

projection products, which will contribute to strengthening its competitiveness.

0 1 1
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Management Discussion and Analysis

4.	 New business development was actively promoted

While maintaining the operation of three principal businesses, Poly Culture strived to explore new 

businesses. As for art education, the Company has established Beijing Poly Music Art and officially 

launched the Poly Music Education Project with a strategic cooperation with Central Conservatory 

of Music. Its first school has started the student enrolment work. Poly Music Education Project 

represents the first attempt of the Company to combine culture with education, and for the next 

step, the Company plans to expand such integrative development to performance art, visual art, 

artwork appreciation and practice to consolidate and establish a unified brand of “Poly Culture and 

Art Academy”, aiming to become the most influential comprehensive art education platform in China.

As for cultural finance, our artworks 

financial services business will officially 

begin operating shortly. Meanwhile, in 

order to facilitate the Company to leap 

forward in cultural financing, we are duly 

studying the issue of establishing Poly 

Cultural Industry Fund, and intending 

to collaborate with relative professional 

institutes to bring in capital from the 

society, absorb art industry resources, 

and carry out project investment as well 

as entrepreneur mergers and acquisitions 

cross various cultural areas.

Apart from the aforesaid, riding on our own brand advantages, the Company will actively explore 

the development of innovation and integration of culture industry into tourism and other industries 

by providing management services based on the idea of “Culture +” to create new business models 

and stimulate business profit growth points.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5.	 The process of “going global” achieved substantial development

The Company accelerated the pace to promote the “going global” development of principal 

businesses, clarified the development strategy as “maintaining three principal businesses, taking 

advantages of the existing domestic channels, and actively making overseas resources mergers 

and acquisitions to build a global business network”.

The Company entered into a cooperation agreement with The Ambassador Theatre Group Ltd. 

(“ATG”) from the U.K., the largest theatre group in Europe, for a comprehensive collaboration 

between both parties including repertoires production and theatre management.

Poly Film also enthusiastically sought 

opportunities to work with international 

film making teams, such as those from 

Hollywood, aiming to introduce their 

sophisticated operating mechanisms 

and gradually turned to content-making 

area of films by starting from film co-

production.

Poly Auction Hong Kong and Macau 

Ho’s Group co-founded the Poly Auction 

Macau Ltd. On January 10, 2016, the first 

auction of Poly Auction Macau was held 

in Macau with a turnover of around HKD245 million, symbolizing a great start. The North American 

Company actively explored relevant businesses including introducing repertoires and artwork finance 

business. The North American Company has made preliminary achievements in its overseas business 

development and made profits in 2015 which is the first year after its establishment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

II.	 RESULTS ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Overview of Our Operating Results

Revenue

Total revenue increased by 11.7% from RMB2,243.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to 

RMB2,505.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to the increase in revenue from 

the performance and theatre management segment and the cinema investment and management segment, 

which was primarily due to the expansion of our theatre and cinema networks. The growth in China’s box 

office also contributed to the increase of the revenue from cinema investment and management segment. 

On the other hand, reasons including the slower settlement progress of our artworks auction business led 

to the decrease in revenue from art business and auction segment.

The respective segment revenue of the Group in 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2015 2014

RMB in millions RMB in millions % of change
    

Art Business and Auction 932.0 1,013.9 (8.1)

Performance and Theatre Management 973.5 838.5 16.1

Cinema Investment and Management 597.5 384.9 55.2

Unallocated 2.0 5.7 (64.9)
    

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by 3.7% from RMB993.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to RMB956.4 

million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Gross profit margin decreased from 44.3% for the year 

ended December 31, 2014 to 38.2% for the year ended December 31, 2015 mainly due to the decrease 

in income and the increase in costs of art business and auction segment.

Other revenue

Other revenue (mainly including government grants) decreased from RMB25.3 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2014 to RMB23.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Other net income

We recorded other net income of RMB36.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 mainly as a 

result of foreign exchange gain from the net proceeds received from the foreign currency assets.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 20.6% from RMB239.3 million for the year ended December 

31, 2014 to RMB288.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to (i) the increase 

in staff costs as a result of an increase in the headcount of selling and marketing employees, which was 

attributable to our increased selling and marketing activities as a result of our efforts to promote and expand 

our business; and (ii) the increase in the number of cinemas we operated and theatres we managed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 12.4% from RMB300.9 million for the year ended December 31, 

2014 to RMB338.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to the increase in staff 

costs as a result of an increase in the headcount of our administrative employees, which was attributable 

to our increased administrative activities and business scale.

Reportable segment profit

As a result of the foregoing, reportable segment profit decreased by 23.2% from RMB590.2 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2014 to RMB453.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The respective reportable segment profit of the Group in 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2015 2014

RMB in millions RMB in millions % of change
    

Art Business and Auction 308.0 480.2 (35.9)

Performance and Theatre Management 40.7 38.3 6.3

Cinema Investment and Management 104.4 71.7 45.6
    

Finance income

Finance income decreased by 2.9% from RMB81.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to 

RMB79.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 mainly due to the decrease in interest income of 

raising fund from the IPO in 2014.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by 77.2% from RMB22.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to 

RMB5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to the decrease in the average 

amount of bank loans.

Income tax

Income tax decreased by 10.0% from RMB130.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to 

RMB117.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to the decrease in taxable income.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year decreased by 19.5% from RMB413.3 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2014 to RMB332.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, and net profit 

margin decreased from 18.4% for the year ended December 31, 2014 to 13.3% for the year ended 

December 31, 2015.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Group maintained a stable financial position and adequate 

liquidity. As of December 31, 2015, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,415.3 million 

(2014: RMB1,536.3 million), decreased by 7.9% as compared to that of December 31, 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to RMB381.1 

million (2014: net cash outflow of RMB260.7 million). After deducting RMB346.0 million in net cash outflow from 

investing activities mainly arising from payment for consignor advances and payment for purchase of property, 

plant and equipment, and deducting RMB156.7 million in net cash outflow from financing activities mainly due 

to the repayment of bank loans of the Group and the payment of dividends to non-controlling equity owners of 

subsidiaries and equity shareholders of the Company, there was a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of 

approximately RMB121.6 million as compared to the end of last year.

CHANGES TO KEY ITEMS IN CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment mainly include, but are not limited to cinema equipment and self-owned offices. Our 

property, plant and equipment increased by 9.7% from RMB543.6 million as of December 31, 2014 to RMB596.6 

million as of December 31, 2015 mainly due to the continued expansion of our cinema network.

Current assets and current liabilities

Primarily due to the expansion of our business, the current assets increased by 4.9% from RMB4,765.9 million 

as of December 31, 2014 to RMB4,998.4 million as of December 31, 2015. Current liabilities increased by 8.5% 

from RMB1,461.7 million as of December 31, 2014 to RMB1,585.9 million as of December 31, 2015.

Inventories

Our inventories increased by 13.1% from RMB1,468.8 million as of December 31, 2014 to RMB1,661.3 million 

as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to an increase in our artwork collections in our art business, which was 

mainly because our management explored market opportunities actively.

Consignor advances

The consignor advances increased by 16.1% from RMB884.8 million as of December 31, 2014 to RMB1,027.4 

million as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to our efforts to attract high quality auction items.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

The deposits, prepayments and other receivables decreased by 3.1% from RMB697.1 million as of December 

31, 2014 to RMB675.2 million as of December 31, 2015.

Prepayments for sold artwork decreased from RMB498.3 million as of December 31, 2014 to RMB457.0 million 

as of December 31, 2015.
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INDEBTEDNESS

As at December 31, 2015, we incurred bank loans of RMB93.0 million, all of which were borrowed from reputable 

Chinese financial institutions and were unsecured. Bank loans decreased from RMB100.0 million as of December 

31, 2014 to RMB93.0 million as of December 31, 2015 due to the repayment of outstanding bank loans. The 

actual fixed interest rate of bank loans ranged from 1.85% to 3.29%, and the actual floating interest rate of bank 

loans was three-month USD LIBOR plus 1.50% for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Under artwork financing trust plans, we are obliged to fund the difference between the total expected monetary 

trust property and the aggregate amount of the principal of trust, expected return as agreed in the trust plan, 

applicable taxes and other incurred costs (exclusive of our expected incentive fees) if the borrower and its guarantor 

fail to repay such amounts. As of December 31, 2015, our maximum exposure amounted to RMB21.0 million.

As of the date of this report, other than disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities 

nor any other off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditures primarily comprised expenditures on property and equipment, which amounted to 

RMB134.7 million and RMB177.9 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

OTHER FINANCIAL INDICATORS

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, debt-to-equity ratio was 2.3% and 2.6% respectively (debt-

to-equity ratio is calculated by dividing the year-end total interest-bearing debts by the year-end total equity; 

interest-bearing debts represent the balance net of the advances from bills discounted with banks).

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND POLICY

As at December 31, 2015, the Group had 5,464 employees in total. The remuneration policy for our employees 

has been determined by our Remuneration and Assessment Committee of the Board taking into consideration 

the performance, experience and operational capacity of our employees. As of December 31, 2015, there has 

been no material change to our remuneration policy and training plans.

RISKS RELATING TO FLUCTUATION OF INTEREST RATES AND 
EXCHANGE RATE

Our art business operations rely on our working capital and bank borrowings to grant consignor advances and 

fund our acquisition of artworks which we believe are undervalued or have appreciation potential, and are resold 

at an appropriate time to make profit. The increase in interest rates may increase our costs to purchase and hold 

the relevant artwork, which could in return affect our results of performance when we resell the relevant artwork. In 

addition, due to our expansion of overseas business, we may generate revenue in terms of foreign currency in the 

future, and the contract we entered into with overseas customers may also be in the value denominated in Hong 

Kong Dollar or U.S. dollar. Therefore, exchange rate fluctuation (especially among the RMB, the Hong Kong Dollar 

and the U.S. dollar) may increase our costs but decrease our profitability due to the decline in foreign exchange. 
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We will keep an eye on policies and changes relating to the domestic and foreign financial markets, and adopt 

a specific financing pattern to partially offset impact of changes in the interest rates on the finance costs during 

the interest rate hike cycle and interest rate reduction cycle.

III.	 RISK FACTORS

The Company’s exposure to risks in connection with its operations mainly includes: market risk, risk of 

staff turnover, competition risk, interest rate and exchange rate risk.

1.	 Market Risk

Uncertainties in the global economy (in particular China’s economy)

At present, the domestic and world economical and financial situation remains complex and grave, 

and challenges and risks cannot be underestimated. The world economy stays weak in the profound 

adjustment of the recovery, with the clear differentiation in the economic growth outlook among 

different countries, continuous price decrease of international bulk commodities and intensification of 

financial market turmoil. The fundamental situation that China’s economy develops well in the long 

term has not changed, however, affected by structural and cyclical factors, the economy faces with 

great downward pressure, the stock market shocks strongly, the devaluation of the RMB exchange 

rate is expected to expand and multiple interwoven factors lead to enhanced uncertainty. Under our 

art business and auction segment, the results of our operations are particularly exposed to risks 

associated with fluctuation of international and domestic economic and financial environment. The 

company will integrate the brand value and resources of Poly Culture to actively develop a new 

industrial pattern, explore new source of profit growth and mitigate the adverse impact arising from 

economic fluctuations while handling well the three principal existing business segments.

Unpredictability of the demand for artworks

The demand for artworks is influenced by various factors, including the overall economic and political 

environment, changes in the collecting categories that are most sought after and preferences of 

collectors. For example, under our auction operation, a decrease in market demand may cause a 

decline in auction turnover while the total turnover remains the same, which could result in lower 

commission income earned by us. In addition, when we are in the process of art business operations, 

we may not be able to collect favorable artworks at reasonable prices amidst keen market demands 

and we may find it difficult to gain expected returns on selling the relevant artworks under declining 

market demands. We will keep an eye on the market changes, understand rotation rules of hotspots 

in the artwork sector and work out countermeasures appropriately. In particular, we will focus on 

expanding the portfolio of new international clients and variety of artworks, as well as enhancing 

overseas sourcing so as to reduce the risks arising from volatility in the market demand.
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2.	 Risk of staff turnover

Our success has been substantially attributable to excellent management professionals. In terms 

of the art business and auction segment, we rely on a number of industry professionals to conduct 

authentication and valuation of artworks, who require long-term practices to accumulate sufficient 

experience to provide professional and reliable advice. In other business segments, we also rely 

on qualified employees to ensure that we can manage our theatres and cinemas with unified and 

high level standards to improve the audience’s experience, and enhance our brand recognition and 

profitability. We strive to attract the best talent through excellent human resources management 

and provide them with good career development opportunities. We will actively enhance internal 

talent cultivation, further enlarge the pool of key management and professional talent, enhance the 

loyalty of key talent, and make innovations in the talent motivation mechanism.

3.	 All our business segments face competition

For the art business and auction segment, we mainly compete with key auction houses in the local 

and foreign markets throughout the operation chain. The competition may possibly reduce our 

commission income, and increase our costs in sourcing, purchasing and selling artworks, as well as 

expenses in talent recruitment. In the performance and theatre management segment, we compete 

with other theater management companies in China in terms of program resources, theatre network 

coverage and brand recognition. In the cinema investment and management segment, we mainly 

compete with other cinema operators in regions where we operate cinemas. The Company will seek 

to gain a more precise understanding of the market demands and enhance core competitiveness 

so as to maintain the leading market position.

4.	 Risks relating to fluctuation of interest rates and exchange rate

Under our art business operations, we purchase and hold artworks which we believe are undervalued 

or which we believe have appreciation potentials, and resell them at an appropriate time to make 

profit. We mainly rely on our working capital and bank loans to fund our acquisitions of artworks. 

Increase in interest rates may increase our costs to purchase and hold the relevant artworks, 

which could in turn adversely affect our operating results of performance if we are unable to pass 

the costs to customers when we resell the relevant artworks. In addition, due to our expansion of 

overseas business, we may generate revenue in terms of foreign currency in the future, and the 

contract we entered into with overseas customers may also be in the value denominated in Hong 

Kong Dollar or U.S. dollar. Therefore, exchange rate fluctuation (especially among the RMB, the 

Hong Kong Dollar and the U.S. dollar) may increase our costs but decrease our profitability due 

to the decline in foreign exchange. We will keep an eye on policies and changes relating to the 

domestic and foreign financial markets, and adopt a specific financing pattern to partially offset 

impact of changes in the interest rates on the finance costs during the interest rate hike cycle and 

interest rate reduction cycle.
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IV.	 OUTLOOK

Poly Culture has set the general task for 2016, including: Continuing to focus on the three principal 

businesses and making progress while maintaining stable growth in operating results; striving to 

make breakthroughs in globalization development; actively promoting innovative businesses by 

setting up preliminary business framework and development pattern; making talent cultivation 

strategies and speeding up the formulation of staff incentive mechanism; keeping on perfecting 

corporate governance and improving management level.

As for art business, according to the “Report 

of Chinese Art Auction Market 2015 (Autumn)” 

produced by Artron (Culture) Group Co., Ltd., 

the domestic art auction turnover in 2015 

decreased by 20% as compared with that of 

2014, shrinking to RMB50.6 billion. Chinese 

art market is undergoing a period of profound 

adjustment since 2012 which was the outcome 

of Valley Effect caused by the compound impact 

of macroeconomic adjustment and artwork 

market cycle. Therefore, the art business will 

face significant operating pressure in 2016.

In terms of performance market, it is clear that 

the market has already entered into a period 

of transition and adjustment. Performance and 

theatre management business needs to actively 

adapt to the market transition to further utilize 

the advantages of leading channels, constantly 

innovate in repertoires and achieve greater 

market value.

As for film market, the domestic box office continued to grow rapidly in 2015, and it is predicted that the 

momentum will be kept in the next few years. However, as box office base number increases, the annual 

growth rate of box office will gradually slow down in the next few years. The year-on-year growth rate of 

box office in 2015 was lower than that of 2014 in terms of the number of newly-added cinemas, screens 

and seats, film industry therefore will step into a stable development phase gradually after a high-speed 

growth. Our cinema investment and management businesses will seize the great opportunity in the current 

market, keep a higher-than-average growth rate and continuously strive to increase market share.
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1.	 Continuing to focus on the three principal businesses and making progress 
while maintaining stable growth in operating results

Artwork auction business will continue to carry out its “Greater China” strategy to complete domestic 

business network, and in the meantime, actively expand overseas market, and endeavor to build a 

“global network” through mergers, acquisitions and international cooperation to realize interaction 

between domestic and overseas business. Pressing ahead with boutique strategy, the Company 

will fulfill sale units, optimize inventory structure, enhance publicizing and collecting efforts, spend 

more effort in attracting investments, and improve service quality, striving to maintain a stable 

growth in the annual turnover.

Leveraging on various selling channels, artwork auction business will enhance its efforts in marketing 

operation business and accelerate capital recovery. The Company will attempt to establish a Poly 

gallery chain (art museum) to support auction business.

The Company will seek broad cooperation and make innovative products in artwork investment 

consultation business. We will try to set up small and medium artwork funds as the “Manager + 

Issuer” to increase the size of the fund by RMB300 million to RMB500 million during the entire year.

Performance and theatre management business will continue to expand its theatre network by 

taking over another two to three theatres during the year, ensuring the successful renewal of the 

expiring contracts for high quality theatres, and aiming to increase the total number of theatres under 

its management to 45 or above. We will make more efforts in introducing more new programs to 

guarantee the supply of programs with high quality. We plan to hold the first “Poly Small Theatre 

Festival” and stage more than 5,600 performances in 2016. More efforts will be made on original 

repertoires productions, among which the fifth original musical “Destruction of Opium” (銷烟) will 

be staged, and the Chinese versions of famous overseas musicals including “The Sound of Music” 

will be co-produced. While doing well in existing businesses, the theatre construction consultation 

business managed by Poly Theatre will gradually turn to provide facility maintenance and repair 

services to theatres under its management in order to expand businesses scope.

Seizing the opportunity of the growing domestic film market, the cinema investment and management 

business will further strengthen the marketing effort, constantly improve the operation and management 

of existing cinemas in operation, and enhance cinemas profitability. The Company will proactively 

explore new projects and keep its business expanding speed. To create new profit growth points, 

the Company will be more vigorously promoting new technology and marketing new products. It 

will pick up the pace to explore a content investment model suitable for itself and strive to make a 

breakthrough. Poly Film intends to open another five to six directly-operated cinemas in 2016 and 

meanwhile, make acquisitions via capital market to rapidly expand business scale and strengthen 

brand.
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2.	 Speeding up in “going global”

The Company will actively seek opportunities to merge and acquire domestic and foreign high 

quality cultural assets. The North American Company will continue to expand relevant performance 

and artwork business, actively search and import high level and high quality performances from 

overseas market, and in the meantime, export excellent domestic plays to the North American market. 

Meanwhile, North American Company will support the construction of Poly Vancouver Gallery and 

facilitate the art business to make a comprehensive improvement.

The Company will strengthen its 

cooperation with ATG from the U.K., 

import original versions of musicals, 

including “The King and I” and “Gone with 

the Wind”, and study the opportunities 

to co-invest and co-product original 

repertoires.

Poly Film will explore the investment 

mode and cooperation scheme with 

international film making teams, such as 

Hollywood.

Beijing Poly Music Art will communicate and cooperate with famous music education institutes 

in Europe and the United States to outline a detailed cooperation plan and put it into practice as 

soon as possible.

3.	 Proactively carrying on innovative business and preliminarily establishing a 
new industry structure

In terms of art education, Beijing Poly Music Art will guarantee to officially commence courses in 

March 2016 and will build up Poly Chamber Orchestra, Poly Treble Choir and other subsidiary projects 

in order to form its own education system as soon as possible and form core competitiveness, 

aiming to be become the top brand among industry peers. In addition, it will strive to select site and 

complete construction of two schools during the year to actively expand its domestic market. Also, 

in 2016, the Company will conduct surveys and researches into subjects including art education, art 

appreciation and practices, and preliminarily set up the business framework of Poly art education 

business. A “Poly Culture and Art Academy” company will also be registered and founded in due 

course.
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As for culture finance, Poly Culture Art Finance Leasing Company has actively expanded its business, 

strengthened risk control and gained profits to promote existing art business. In 2016, the Company 

will also actively prepare to establish a Poly Culture Industry Foundation to facilitate the Company’s 

business development and capital operation.

As for culture tourism, the Company will conduct survey and plan of related projects step by step, 

negotiate possible cooperation models and endeavor to carry out one to two projects within the year.

Apart from the aforesaid, the Company will preliminarily establish a business model of culture 

capital operation and management to create new sources for profit growth and support the existing 

business of the Company.

4.	 Formulating talent development strategy to improve team building

The Company will make and conduct a talent development strategy that suits the characteristics 

of the Company by hiring professional organizations and relevant experts. Referring to national 

guidance on the reform of the state-owned enterprise, the Company will explore practical measures 

to effectively attract high-level compound talent, explore to create a mid to long term incentive 

scheme so as to effectively keep the talents and build an environment favorable to innovative 

development and outcome sharing.

5.	 Consolidating corporate governance structure to improve management

Regarding improving corporate governance structure as the core, the Company will step up to 

clarify the division between rights and responsibilities, strengthen the corporate governance and 

system construction of the Company, and improve the execution ability of such systems to ensure 

the corporate management to be more regulated, scientific and efficient.

The Company will pay attention to prevention against safety risks, especially in face of the new trend 

that crowded places such as cinemas and theatres are bearing high safety risks. The Company will 

further clarify primary responsibility, enhance relevant safety equipment and facilities, and perfect 

safety emergency plan and exercise to avoid safety incidents.
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was established as a joint stock limited company on December 14, 2010. The Company’s H 

Shares were listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on March 6, 2014. The Prospectus has 

been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange for information disclosure (www.hkexnews.hk) and the 

Company (www.polyculture.com.cn).

MAIN BUSINESS

The Company is a leading culture and art enterprise in China with diversified business operations, which maintains a 

well-balanced business pattern of three pillar operations, namely art business and auction, performance and theatre 

management and cinema investment and management, through its eleven first-level wholly-owned subsidiaries.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY INDICATORS OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

For details of the business review and analysis of key indicators of financial performance, please refer to 

“Management Discussion and Analysis – Results Analysis and Discussion” of this report.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Our ultimate holding company is Poly Group, which was established in 1992 as a large state-owned enterprise 

under the direct supervision and administration of SASAC. Apart from the culture and art business conducted 

through our Group, Poly Group is primarily engaged in military and civilian trade and business, real estate 

development, investment and exploitation in mineral resource field and manufacture of civilian explosive equipment 

and blasting service.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2015 were published on the websites of the 

Stock Exchange for information disclosure and the Company on March 24, 2016.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2015 are set 

out in Note 12 to the Financial Statements of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at the date of this report, the total Share capital of the Company is RMB246,316,000, divided into 246,316,000 

Shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2015 are set out in the Consolidated 

Statement of Changes in Equity and Note 24 to the Financial Statements of this report, and details of reserves 

available for distribution to our Shareholders are set out in Note 24(e) to the Financial Statements of this report.

CHANGE OF AUDITORS

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company appointed BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public 

Accountants LLP as the PRC auditor of the Company for the year 2015, and appointed KPMG as the international 

auditor of the Company. BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP and KPMG will retire as the 

Company’s auditors at the end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will 

offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming 

annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP 

and KPMG as the Company’s auditors for the year ending December 31, 2016.

As approved by the 2013 Annual General Meeting, the Company appointed BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified 

Public Accountants LLP as the new PRC auditor of the Company, and did not re-appoint its previous PRC auditor 

PKF DAXIN Certified Public Accountants LLP. For details please refer to the announcements and circular published 

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on April 28, 2014 and June 17, 2014, respectively.

PROFIT DISTRIBUTIONS

The Board recommends to distribute a final dividend of RMB0.264 per share (tax inclusive) in cash to the 

Shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2015. The dividend mentioned above will be distributed before 

the end of August, 2016 upon approval of Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.

TAXATION

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (中華人民共和國企業所得稅法) and its implementation 

regulations (the “EIT Law”), the tax rate of the enterprise income tax applicable to the income of a non-resident 

enterprise deriving from the PRC is 10%. For this purpose, any H Shares registered under the name of non-

individual enterprise, including the H Shares registered under the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited, other 

nominees or trustees, or other organizations or entities, shall be deemed as shares held by non-resident enterprise 

shareholders (as defined under the EIT Law). The Company will distribute the dividend to those non-resident 

enterprise shareholders subject to a deduction of 10% enterprise income tax withheld and paid by the Company 

on their behalf.

Any resident enterprise (as defined under the EIT Law) which has been legally incorporated in the PRC or which 

was established pursuant to the laws of foreign countries (regions) but has established effective administrative 

entities in the PRC, and whose name appears on the Company’s H Share register should deliver a legal opinion 

ascertaining its status as a resident enterprise furnished by a qualified PRC lawyer (with the official chop of the 

law firm issuing the opinion affixed thereon) and relevant documents to Computershare Hong Kong Investor 

Services Limited in due course, if they do not wish to have the 10% enterprise income tax withheld and paid on 

their behalf by the Company.
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Pursuant to the Notice on the Issues on Levy of Individual Income Tax after the Abolishment of Guoshuifa (1993) 

No. 045 Document (關於國稅發(1993) 045號文件廢止後有關個人所得稅徵管問題的通知) (the “Notice”) issued by 

the State Administration of Taxation on 28 June 2011, the dividend to be distributed by the PRC non-foreign 

invested enterprise which has issued shares in Hong Kong to the overseas resident individual shareholders, is 

subject to the individual income tax with a tax rate of 10% in general.

However, the tax rates for respective overseas resident individual Shareholders may vary depending on the relevant 

tax agreements between the countries of their residence and mainland China. Thus, 10% individual income tax 

will be withheld from the dividend payable to any individual Shareholders of H Shares whose names appear on 

the H Share register of members of the Company on the record date, unless otherwise stated in the relevant 

taxation regulations, tax treaties or the Notice.

The Company will withhold payment of the enterprise and individual income tax strictly in accordance with the 

relevant laws or requirements of the relevant government departments and based on the Company’s register of 

members of H Shares on the record date. The Company assumes no liability whatsoever in respect of and will 

not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate determination of, the status of the Shareholders 

or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding of enterprise income tax. The Company will not be liable for 

any claim arising from any delay in, or inaccurate determination of the status of the shareholders or any disputes 

over the mechanism of withholding.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries have not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 

for the year ended December 31, 2015.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2015, sales to the top five customers of the Group and the purchases from the 

top five suppliers of the Company accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales and total purchases, 

respectively.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL CONTRACTS, 
TRANSACTIONS OR AGREEMENTS

No contracts, transactions or agreements of significance to which the Company or its holding company, any 

of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or Supervisor or their connected 

entities had a material interest, whether directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended December 

31, 2015 or at any time during that year.
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PRINCIPAL RELATIONS BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND ITS CUSTOMERS, 
EMPLOYEES AND INVESTORS

CustomersCustomers

The Company always concerns about the needs of our customers. Its auction companies adhere to the concept 

of boutique Poly, continue to provide quality services to domestic and international customers and gradually 

establish a set of standard customer service process. We form strict service standards and timings for the whole 

process, from the collection and storage of auction items, the issuance of auction notices, the delivery of invoice 

to buyers and sellers after the auction was completed to the real time tracking of customers’ settlement.

EmployeesEmployees

In terms of employees, the Company has established a good training system, to promote career development 

for our employees, help them balance work and life and construct a long-term incentive mechanism among 

explorations. We strive to create a good working environment of innovative development and result-sharing.

InvestorsInvestors

The Company has and always will highly value the maintenance and development of investor relations, in order 

to timely and effectively convey the corporate information to the public, enhance the Company’s information 

transparency and build an effective communication channel between the Company and investors.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2015 were set 

forth in Note 21 to the Financial Statements of this report.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION AND POLICIES

As at December 31, 2015, the Group had 5,464 employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is determined by 

the Remuneration and Assessment Committee under the Board of Directors as per the performance, qualifications 

and competence of our employees. Details of the employee remuneration of the Company were set forth in Note 

7(b) to the Financial Statements of this report.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEES BENEFIT SCHEME AND SHARE OPTION 
INCENTIVE PLAN

Details of the retirement and employees benefit scheme of the Company are set forth in Note 7(b) to the Financial 

Statement of this report.

As at the date of this report, the Company did not have any share option incentive plan.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY

The Company insists on the concept of scientific and green development. We study, publicize and strictly comply 

with national laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and energy conservation. We actively 

promote the production and business mode of energy conservation, green and low-carbon. We change bad 

consumption patterns and living habits, avoiding waste. The Company has established an automatic working 

system and implemented paperless work, to promote the re-use of office paper. We suggest our employees to 

go out by walk or public transportation and drive as little as possible. We hold meetings by video and telephones, 

to effectively reduce operating costs and carbon emissions.

COMPANY’S COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is able to comply with relevant requirements of laws, regulations, rules and provisions of the Companies 

Ordinance, the Listing Rules and SFO in Hong Kong, the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China 

(《中華人民共和國公司法》), the Basic Norms of Enterprise Internal control (《企業內部控制基本規範》) in China 

etc., including information disclosure, corporate governance and standard industry operation, etc. The Group has 

also adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INDEMNITIES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2015 and up to the date of this report, there was or is, any 

permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors or Supervisors (whether made 

by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the Company). The Company has arranged 

appropriate Directors’, Supervisors and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors, Supervisors and 

officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company did not issue any debentures.

DONATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the charity donations made by the Group amounted to approximately 

RMB170,000.

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The profiles of our Directors, Supervisors and senior management were set forth on pages 62 to 64 of this report. 

Saved as disclosed in this report, there have been no changes to the information about the Directors, Supervisors 

and senior management of the Company which are required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing 

Rules during the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

None of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or financial interests in the Group, nor do they 

hold any executive positions in the Company, which effectively guarantees their independence.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their 

independence as per Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company is of the 

opinion that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent as per Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has entered into a service contract with each of the Directors and Supervisors and the service 

contract mainly set forth: 1) lasts for a term of three years; and 2) the service contract may be terminated as per 

its terms.

None of the Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company which cannot be 

terminated by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates had interests in a business which 

competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2015, none of the Directors, Supervisors or senior management had any interests or short 

positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 

any such Directors, Supervisors, chief executives or their respective associates is deemed to have under such 

provisions of the SFO), or which was required to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company 

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which was otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2015, to the knowledge of the Directors, the interests or short positions of the following persons 

(which are not Directors, Supervisors or chief executives) in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company, 

which were required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Shareholders Type of Shares Capacity

Number of Shares/

underlying Shares 

held (note 1)

Percentage of 

the relevant 

class of 

share capital 

(%) (note 2)

Percentage of 

the total 

share capital 

(%) (note 2)
      

Poly Group (Note 3) Domestic Shares Beneficial owner and interest of  

  controlled corporation

156,868,400 (L) 100.00 63.69

Poly Southern Domestic Shares Beneficial owner 50,197,900 (L) 32.00 20.38

JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Note 4) H Shares Beneficial owner 2,302,300 (L) 2.57 0.93

151,900 (S) 0.17 0.06

Investment manager 50,000 (L) 0.05 0.02

Custodian – corporations/ 

  approved lending agent

2,514,000 (P) 2.81 1.02

Total 4,886,400 (L) 5.46 1.98

151,900 (S) 0.17 0.06

2,514,100 (P) 2.81 1.02

ICBC Credit Suisse Asset 

  Management (International) 

  Company Limited

H Shares Investment manager and  

  beneficial owner

4,703,100 (L) 5.26 1.91

FMR LLC (Note 5) H Shares Investment manager 4,235,900 (L) 4.74 1.72

董平 H Shares Beneficial owner 4,510,000 (L) 5.04 1.83

Note:

1.	 “L” stands for long positions, “S” stands for short positions and “P” stands for lending pool.

2.	 The percentage is calculated with the number of the relevant class of Shares of the Company issued as at the Latest 
Practicable Date divided by the total number of Shares.

3.	 Poly Group directly holds 106,670,500 Shares of the Company, and holds 100% of the equity interest of Poly Southern, 
which in turn holds 50,197,900 Shares of the Company. Accordingly Poly Group is deemed to be interested in the 
50,197,900 Shares held by Poly Southern under the SFO.

4.	 JPMorgan Chase & Co. holds total issued capitals of JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer 
Holdings Inc. Accordingly JPMorgan Chase & Co. is deemed to have the same interests of the Company as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank N.A. and J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. under the SFO. JPMorgan Chase & Co. holds 4,886,400 
Shares in long positions and 151,900 Shares in short positions of the Company through JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., J.P. 
Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. and other corporations it controls. Among the 4,886,400 Shares in long positions, 
2,514,100 Shares are in lending pool and 48,700 Shares are held by derivatives. Among the 151,900 Shares in short 
positions, 59,200 Shares are held by derivatives.

5.	 FIDELITY MANAGEMENT & RESEARCH (H.K.) INC. directly holds 4,523,400 Shares of the Company. FMR LLC indirectly 
holds 100% of the equity interest of FIDELITY MANAGEMENT & RESEARCH (H.K.) INC. Accordingly FMR LLC is deemed 
to be interested in the 4,523,400 Shares held by FIDELITY MANAGEMENT & RESEARCH (H.K.) INC. under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2015, to the knowledge of the Directors, there were no other 

persons who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which were 

required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the 

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company did not enter into any contract in respect of the management and administration of the entire or 

any significant part of the business nor did any such contract subsist at any time during the Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.	 Non-exempt One-off Connected Transaction1.	 Non-exempt One-off Connected Transaction

Capital Increase in Poly Finance

Parties

Poly Group, Poly Tech, Poly Southern, Poly Hong Kong Holdings, Poly Real Estate, Poly Property, Poly 

Energy and Credit Suisse (the “Original Shareholders”), the Company (collectively, the “Capital Increase 

Parties”) and Poly Finance

Principal terms

As at September 30, 2015, the registered capital of Poly Finance is RMB700,000,000. Pursuant to the 

capital increase agreement, the Capital Increase Parties agreed to increase the registered capital of Poly 

Finance to RMB2,000,000,000 (the “Proposed Capital Increase”). Each party agreed to make capital 

contribution to Poly Finance in the following manner:

(1)	 Each of the Original Shareholders will transfer the capital reserve of Poly Finance totaling 

RMB76,390,447.00 as at 31 December 2014 into the registered capital of Poly Finance;

(2)	 All of the Original Shareholders except Credit Suisse will transfer their undistributed profit from Poly 

Finance totaling RMB407,983,803.37 as at 31 December 2014 into the registered capital of Poly 

Finance;

(3)	 Poly Group, Poly Tech, Poly Real Estate, Poly Property and Poly Energy will subscribe shares of Poly 

Finance in cash in proportion to their current capital contribution in Poly Finance. Poly Hong Kong 

Holdings, Poly Southern and Credit Suisse will waive their respective right to subscribe shares of 

Poly Finance in cash in proportion to their current shareholding in Poly Finance while such shares 

will be subscribed by Poly Tech, Poly Real Estate and Poly Property; and

(4)	 The Company will make capital contribution to Poly Finance in cash and will become a shareholder 

of Poly Finance upon the completion of the Proposed Capital Increase.
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Set out below are the details of the proposed capital contribution to Poly Finance by the above Original 

Shareholders and the Company:

Shareholders of Poly Finance

Capital contribution 

after (i) registered 

capital transferred 

from capital reserve; 

and (ii) registered 

capital transferred 

from undistributed 

profit (if applicable) 

Proposed capital 

contributions 

in cash 

Proposed 

total capital 

contributions 

(RMB) (RMB) (RMB)
    

The Company – 109,882,500.00 109,882,500.00

Poly Group 197,747,831.51 282,675,114.04 480,422,945.55

Poly Tech 84,749,070.65 187,236,264.55 271,985,335.20

Poly Southern 28,249,690.22 – 28,249,690.22

Poly Hong Kong Holdings 30,968,008.12 – 30,968,008.12

Poly Real Estate 56,499,380.43 146,854,105.40 203,353,485.83

Poly Property1 46,452,012.17 129,199,821.20 175,651,833.37

Poly Energy 28,249,690.22 40,382,159.14 68,631,849.36

Credit Suisse 11,458,567.05 – 11,458,567.05
    

Total 484,374,250.37 896,229,964.33 1,380,604,214.70
    

1	 Poly Property will make proposed capital contribution equivalent to RMB129,199,821.20 in U.S. dollars. The 
exchange rate between U.S. dollars and RMB will be calculated based on the central parity rate as announced 
by the People’s Bank of China as of the date of de facto contribution by Poly Property.

Listing Rules Implications

As at September 30, 2015, as Poly Group directly holds 43.3% of the equity interest of the Company and 

indirectly holds 20.4% of the equity interest of the Company through its subsidiary, Poly Southern, Poly 

Group and Poly Southern constitute Connected Persons of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules. As Poly Finance is owned as to 85% by Poly Group and its associates, and each of Poly Tech, Poly 

Southern, Poly Hong Kong Holdings, Poly Real Estate, Poly Property, Poly Energy is a subsidiary of Poly 

Group, therefore each of Poly Finance, Poly Tech, Poly Southern, Poly Hong Kong Holdings, Poly Real 

Estate, Poly Property, Poly Energy constitutes a Connected Person of the Company, and the Proposed 

Capital Increase constitutes a Connected Transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio calculated in accordance with the Listing Rules is higher 

than 5%, the transaction is subject to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In addition, pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing 

Rules, as the highest applicable percentage ratio is higher than 5% but less than 25%, the transaction 

also constitutes a discloseable transaction and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements 

under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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When the Board passed the resolution in relation to the Proposed Capital Increase, Directors who have 

material interests in the capital increase agreement, namely Mr. Xu Niansha, the chairman of the Board, 

and Directors Mr. Wang Lin, Mr. Zhang Xi and Mr. Zhao Zigao, have abstained from voting.

Transaction and its Reasons

According to the provided audited financial statements (prepared in accordance with the PRC Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles), Poly Finance has made profits each year since its establishment, and its 

total profits increased from RMB10.69 million in 2008 to RMB280.50 million in 2014, with an average profit 

margin (total profit before tax/revenue) of 84% for the last three years, and an average return on equity at 

19.13% for the last five years. Poly Finance distributes cash dividend to its shareholders every year on the 

basis of 30% of its distributable profit. As at the end of 2014, the internal rate of return of Poly Finance on 

shareholders’ investment was 17.35%. The Proposed Capital Increase will increase the registered capital 

and working capital of Poly Finance, facilitate its business expansion and significantly improve its overall 

profitability and shareholders’ return level. The Company, as its shareholder, is also expected to benefit 

from, among others, its stable return on investment for shareholders.

In addition, the Company’s capital contribution to Poly Finance will further enhance its business cooperation 

with Poly Finance, pave ways for the future development of the Company by securing a reliable financing 

channel and being provided with safe and convenient settlement service, lower the financial costs, optimize 

the financial structure and reinforce the financial position of the Company, which is beneficial to the effective 

resources allocation of the Company.

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the capital increase 

agreement has been entered into on normal commercial terms, is fair and reasonable, and is in the interests 

of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the announcement and circular published on the 

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on September 17, 2015 and October 8, 2015.

Joint establishment of Poly Ronghe Financial Leasing Company Limited with Connected Person

Parties

The Company, China Culture & Art Financial Services and Glory Zone

Principal terms

The Company entered into a joint venture agreement with China Culture & Art Financial Services Company 

Limited (the “China Culture & Art Financial Services”) and Glory Zone on 29 December 2015, pursuant to 

which the Company, China Culture & Art Financial Services and Glory Zone agreed to jointly contribute 

RMB200 million to establish Poly Ronghe Financial Leasing Company Limited (the “New Company”, the 

original temporary name is Poly Culture Art Financial Leasing Company Limited) to carry out financial leasing 

business for artworks (the “Joint Venture Agreement”). The registered capital of the New Company is 

proposed to be RMB200 million, of which the Company intends to contribute RMB120 million, accounting 

for 60% of the registered capital; China Culture & Art Financial Services will contribute RMB40 million, 

accounting for 20% of the registered capital; and Glory Zone will contribute RMB40 million, accounting 

for 20% of the registered capital. The New Company is proposed to be incorporated in Tianjin Dongjiang 

Bonded Port Area in the PRC.
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The Company, China Culture & Art Financial Services and Glory Zone will make the contribution in cash.

The board of directors to be established by the New Company consists of five directors, of which the 

Company will appoint three directors (including the chairman), and the other parties will appoint two 

directors. The Company will appoint the chief financial officer of the New Company.

Listing Rules Implications

Poly Auction Beijing is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, in which Mr. Zhao Xu holds 18% 

equity interests and is a substantial shareholder of Poly Auction Beijing. Poly Auction Hong Kong is a 

non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, in which Mr. Zhao Xu holds 21.50% equity interests and is 

a substantial shareholder of Poly Auction Hong Kong. In addition, Mr. Zhao Xu is the beneficial owner of 

Glory Zone. Therefore, Glory Zone constitutes a Connected Person of the Company under Chapter 14A 

of the Listing Rules, and the joint capital contribution by the Company, Glory Zone and China Culture & 

Art Financial Services to establish a joint venture constitutes a Connected Transaction of the Company. 

As the highest applicable percentage ratio calculated in accordance with the Listing Rules is higher than 

0.1% but lower than 5%, the transaction is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but 

exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Transaction and its Reasons

By the joint establishment of the New Company to carry out financial leasing business for artworks, the 

Company will optimize the industry chain for its own art operation and auction business, and will further 

expand the scale of its art operation, thereby enhancing its profitability and securing its leading position 

in the industry. The specific strategic significance to the Company is as follows:

1.	 Facing the intense competition of domestic art auction industry, the Company is able to optimize its 

art industry chain and enhance its core competitiveness in the art operation and auction business 

by carrying out financial leasing business for artworks;

2.	 The Company will explore its potential in the existing artwork industry, enlarge its scale and enhance 

its profitability by carrying out financial leasing business for artworks. In the meantime, such business 

will also become a significant profit growth for the Company; and

3.	 The Company is able to provide various kinds of financing services to art collectors (including 

potential clients) and help them through temporary financial difficulties by carrying out financial 

leasing business for artworks. In the meantime, such business will facilitate artworks dealing and 

increase the auction clearance rate from a short term perspective, whereas it can help stabilize 

our relationship with clients, prevent the loss of our clients, strengthen our client base and form a 

virtuous cycle for our business in the long term.

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the Joint Venture 

Agreement has been entered into on normal commercial terms, is fair and reasonable, and is in the interests 

of the Company and shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the announcement published on the websites of the 

Stock Exchange and the Company on December 29, 2015.
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2.	 Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions2.	 Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the Company has conducted certain non-exempt Continuing Connected 

Transactions as listed below:

Number Connected Transaction Connected Person Annual Cap of 2015

Actual Transaction 

Amount of 2015 

(RMB Million) (RMB Million)
     

1 Financial Services  

 Agreement

Poly Finance the maximum daily

 deposit balance: 1,000

the maximum daily 

deposit balance: 585.80

lending services: 0

settlement services: 0

miscellaneous financial 

services: 0

the maximum daily 

lending balance: 500

2 General Services  

 Framework Agreement

Poly Group  

 (as the service receiver)

22 

(revised annual cap)

10.47

3 Commodities Sale and  

 Purchase Framework  

 Agreement

Poly Group  

 (as the purchaser)

11 

(revised annual cap)

5.97

4 Property Lease  

 Framework Agreement

Poly Group  

 (as the lessor)

64.5 44.72

5 Cinema Box Office  

 Income Sharing  

 Framework Agreement

Poly Group 350.3 208.52

Note:

1.	 For the above-mentioned No.1 non-exempt Continuing Connected Transaction, its annual caps from 2015 to 
2017 have been approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company convened on December 22, 
2014.

2.	 For the above-mentioned No.2 to No.5 non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions, the Company has 
obtained waivers from the Stock Exchange for the annual caps of such Continuing Connected Transactions to 
exempt from the requirements of announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval upon its Listing. In 
addition, the Company published the Revision of Existing Annual Caps of Continuing Connected Transactions 
Announcement on the websites of the Stock Exchange for information disclosure and the Company on December 
17, 2014, according to which the annual caps of the above No.2 General Services Framework Agreement and 
No.3 Commodities Sale and Purchase Agreement have been revised.
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(1)	 Financial services agreement(1)	 Financial services agreement

Parties

Poly Finance and the Company

Principal terms

The Company and Poly Finance entered into the Financial Services Agreement on November 5, 

2014, pursuant to which Poly Finance agreed to provide deposit services, credit lending services, 

settlement services and miscellaneous financial services for the Group.

Poly Finance undertakes to provide the Company with high-quality and efficient financial services 

and to timely notify the Company of agreed events in order to safeguard the financial assets of the 

Company and adopt proper mitigation measures.

In respect of the deposit services under Financial Services Agreement, the maximum daily deposit 

balance of the Group with Poly Finance is RMB1 billion during the term of the Financial Services 

Agreement.

In respect of the credit lending services provided by Poly Finance under Financial Services Agreement, 

the maximum daily lending balance of the Group with Poly Finance is RMB0.5 billion during the 

term of the Financial Services Agreement.

Conditional upon the compliance with the Financial Services Agreement, the Company and Poly 

Finance will enter into separate contracts in respect of deposit services, credit lending services, 

settlement services and miscellaneous financial services to provide for the details on the provision 

of these services.

The term of the Financial Services Agreement is three years from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 

2017. Unless one party notifies the other party to terminate the Financial Services Agreement, it 

will be extended for another three years upon its expiry without limitation on the number of times of 

extension. The extension of the agreement as well as its proposed annual caps for the transaction 

should also comply with the applicable requirements of the Listing Rules.

Listing Rules Implications

Poly Finance is a subsidiary owned as to 85% by Poly Group, the Controlling Shareholder of the 

Company, and therefore it is a Connected Person of the Company. Accordingly, the Financial 

Services Agreement entered into between Poly Finance and the Company and the contemplated 

transactions under the agreement constitute the Continuing Connected Transactions of the Company 

under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio to deposit services under the Financial Services Agreement 

exceeds 5%, the deposit services provided by Poly Finance to the Group shall be subject to the 

annual reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements as set out 

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The credit lending services provided by Poly Finance to the Group constitutes Connected Transactions 

by way of financial assistance to the Group provided by a Connected Person. As the highest 

applicable percentage ratio to the credit lending services under the Financial Services Agreement 

exceeds 5%, the credit lending services provided by Poly Finance to the Group shall be subject to 

the annual reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements as set 

out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In respect of settlement services and miscellaneous financial services provided by Poly Finance to 

the Group, each of the percentage ratios is, or is expected to be, below the de minimis threshold 

as stipulated in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Therefore the provision of settlement services 

and the provision of miscellaneous financial services by Poly Finance to the Group are exempted 

from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company will comply with the reporting, announcement 

and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules 

if the transaction amount of the miscellaneous financial services to be provided by Poly Finance to 

the Group under the Financial Services Agreement exceeds the relevant threshold.

Transaction and its Reasons

The main reasons and benefits for our utilizing the financial services provided by Poly Finance are 

as follows:

(1)	 The Group is expected to benefit from Poly Finance’s better understanding of the operations 

of the Group which allows expedient and efficient service provision. As an intra-group service 

provider, Poly Finance communicates more conveniently and efficiently with the Group as 

compared with other independent commercial banks; and

(2)	 The interest rates on deposits and financing offered by Poly Finance to the Group are more 

favorable than those offered by other independent PRC commercial banks in general.

The Financial Services Agreement is entered into on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable 

and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The transactions contemplated 

under the Financial Services Agreement will not have any adverse effect on the Group’s revenue 

as well as its assets and liabilities.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the announcement and circular published on 

the websites of the Stock Exchange for information disclosure and the Company on November 5, 

2014 and November 27, 2014, respectively.

(2)	 General services framework agreement(2)	 General services framework agreement

Parties

Poly Group (as the service receiver), and the Company (as the service provider)
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Principal terms

We entered into the General Services Framework Agreement with Poly Group on February 14, 2014, 

pursuant to which we from time to time provide Poly Group and/or its associates with certain types 

of services, mainly including exhibition service, theatre management service, art appreciation activity 

service and general service. The principal terms of the General Services Framework Agreement are 

as follows:

•	 the General Services Framework Agreement is valid for a term of three years commencing 

on the Listing Date and can be renewed for another three years upon its expiry;

•	 relevant subsidiaries or associated companies of both parties will enter into separate underlying 

contracts which will set out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles 

provided in the General Services Framework Agreement; and

•	 the price for the service provided under General Services Framework Agreement will be 

determined by reference to the then market price or as agreed by both parties after arm-

length negotiations.

Listing Rules Implications

As Poly Group is the Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Poly Group constitutes a Connected 

Person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions under 

the General Services Framework Agreement between the Company and Poly Group constitute the 

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio to revised annual cap under the General Services 

Framework Agreement between the Company and Poly Group is more than 0.1% but less than 

5%, the Continuing Connected Transactions under the General Services Framework Agreement 

shall be subject to the annual reporting and announcement requirements but exempted from the 

independent shareholders’ approval requirement as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has obtained waivers from the Stock Exchange for the annual caps of such Continuing 

Connected Transactions to exempt from the requirements of announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval.
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Transaction and its Reasons

The provision of service by the Company to Poly Group started before 2010. Poly Group is engaged 

in the business of real estate development and needs artistic decoration and exhibition for their real 

estate display hall from time to time. Poly Group also conducts promotion activities for their high-end 

real estate projects by hosting art appreciation activities. Poly Art Centre, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

the Company, is engaged in exhibition undertakings and organization of art communication activities. 

In order to seize such business opportunity, Poly Group and its subsidiaries need to promote its sales 

and marketing activities all over the country, and Poly Art Centre holds local exhibition with selected 

exhibits which will enhance the market influence of Poly Group and which also accords with Poly 

Group’s promotion slogan “Cultural Real Estate”. In the meantime, Poly Art Centre can also earn 

profits in the promotion of our artistic brand. For Poly Group, it is always dedicated to the merger 

between real estate and culture by means of the introduction of some cultural elements, like Poly 

Theatre, into Beijing and Shenzhen in order to enhance the cultural content and commercial value 

and complement each other’s benefit with Poly Culture. Thus, the provision of exhibition service 

from our Group to Poly Group would not only enhance the recognition of the real estate projects 

of Poly Group but also expand and develop the business of our Group. In addition, our Group has 

gradually established theatre management companies in many cities in the PRC and has recruited 

a group of professionals in the field of theatre management, which are comparably hard to find in 

the market. The above-mentioned provision of service by our Group to Poly Group was and will 

be conducted in line with the market practice and can exert the strength and advantage from both 

our Group and Poly Group.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the Prospectus of the Company and the 

announcement published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on December 

17, 2014.

(3)	 Commodities sale and purchase framework agreement(3)	 Commodities sale and purchase framework agreement

Parties

Poly Group (as the purchaser) and the Company (as the seller)

Principal terms

We entered into the Commodities Sale and Purchase Framework Agreement with Poly Group on 

February 14, 2014, pursuant to which we from time to time sell commodities mainly including 

art products and theatre tickets to Poly Group and/or its associates. The principal terms of the 

Commodities Sale and Purchase Framework Agreement are as follows:

•	 the Commodities Sale and Purchase Framework Agreement is valid for a term of three years 

commencing on the Listing Date and can be renewed for another three years upon its expiry;

•	 relevant subsidiaries of both parties will enter into separate underlying contracts which will set 

out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles provided in the Commodities 

Sale and Purchase Framework Agreement; and
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•	 the price of the commodities sold by us under the Commodities Sale and Purchase Framework 

Agreement will be determined through arm-length negotiations by parties thereto by reference 

to market price.

Listing Rule Implications

As Poly Group is the Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Poly Group constitutes a Connected 

Person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the signing Commodities 

Sale and Purchase Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and Poly Group 

constitutes a Continuing Connected Transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio to the revised annual cap under the Commodities Sale 

and Purchase Framework Agreement between the Company and Poly Group is more than 0.1% but 

less than 5%, the Continuing Connected Transactions under the Commodities Sale and Purchase 

Framework Agreement shall be subject to the annual reporting and announcement requirements 

but exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements as set out in Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has obtained waivers from the Stock Exchange for the annual caps of such Continuing 

Connected Transactions to exempt from the requirements of announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval.

Transaction and its Reasons

It is our ordinary and usual course of business to sell art products and theatre tickets. Poly Group 

places great emphasis on the working environment and welfare of its employees. There is a need 

for Poly Group and/or its associates to purchase theatre tickets as employee benefits from time to 

time and/or purchase art products for interior decoration of their office building from time to time. 

The terms of the sales and purchases of the above commodities are in line with the market rates.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the Prospectus of the Company and the 

announcement published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on December 

17, 2014.

(4)	 Property lease framework agreement(4)	 Property lease framework agreement

Parties

Poly Group (as the lessor) and the Company (as the lessee)

Principal terms

We entered into a Property Lease Framework Agreement with Poly Group on February 14, 2014, 

pursuant to which we lease properties from Poly Group and/or its associates for the purpose of 

office premises, cinema operation, theatre operation, auction business operation and ancillary service. 

The principal terms of the Property Lease Framework Agreement are as follows:

•	 the Property Lease Framework Agreement is valid for a term of 20 years commencing on 

the Listing Date;
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•	 relevant subsidiaries or associated companies of both parties will enter into separate lease 

agreements which will set out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles 

provided in the Property Lease Framework Agreement;

•	 basis of determination of rentals: the rentals shall be determined by reference to the then 

market price or as agreed by both parties after arm-length negotiations;

•	 the property management fee shall be determined by reference to the then market price or 

as agreed by both parties after arm-length negotiations;

•	 the energy charge and other facilities fee shall follow the government prescribed price or 

where no such government-prescribed price is applicable, it shall then be determined by 

reference to the then market price or as agreed by both parties after arm-length negotiations; 

and

•	 the term of the separate underlying lease agreements entered into under the Property Lease 

Framework Agreement shall be for a maximum of 20 years. We may request to renew the 

term of the lease by issuing a written notice to relevant members of Poly Group at least one 

month before expiry of the lease. Relevant members of Poly Group shall, upon receipt of 

the said notice, consent to the request for renewal and shall renew the lease with members 

of our Group before its expiration.

Listing Rules Implications

As Poly Group is the Company’s Controlling Shareholder, Poly Group constitutes a Connected 

Person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Property Lease 

Framework Agreement between the Company and Poly Group constitutes a Continuing Connected 

Transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio to the annual cap under the Property Lease Framework 

Agreement between the Company and Poly Group is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the Continuing 

Connected Transactions under the Property Lease Framework Agreement shall be subject to the 

annual reporting and announcement requirements but exempted from the independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has obtained waivers from the Stock Exchange for the annual caps of such Continuing 

Connected Transactions to exempt from the requirements of announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval.

Transaction and its Reasons

Our Group has started to lease and use the above properties for its business operation prior 

to 2010. Any relocation may cause unnecessary disruption to our business operation and incur 

unnecessary costs.
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Our Directors are of the view that the long-term nature of the property lease agreement would 

enable the Group to secure locations for its business operation at fair market price and to prevent 

unnecessary cost, time and interruption of business caused by relocation in the case of short term 

lease. As such, our Directors are of the view that the lease term of 20 years is appropriate for the 

Property Lease Framework Agreement and is the normal business practice for lease agreements 

of this type to be of such duration.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the Prospectus of the Company.

(5)	 Cinema box office income sharing framework agreement(5)	 Cinema box office income sharing framework agreement

Parties

Poly Group and the Company

Principal terms

We entered into a Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement with Poly Group 

on February 14, 2014, according to which Poly Group and/or its associates will provide new film 

prints for our Group and our Group will then arrange movie screening in our cinemas. Both parties 

agreed to split the net cinema box office income generated from the movie screening based on the 

pre-agreed sharing percentage. In turn, Poly Group and/or its associates may then further share 

the revenue generated from such split with movie distributors and producers pursuant to separate 

agreements among themselves. Such cinema box office income sharing arrangement is in line with 

the current film industry practice in the PRC.

The principal terms of the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement are as follows:

•	 the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement is valid for a term of three 

years commencing on the Listing Date and can be renewed for another three years upon 

its expiry;

•	 relevant subsidiaries or associated companies of both parties will enter into separate underlying 

contracts which will set out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles 

provided in the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement; and

•	 Poly Group and/or its associates will provide new film prints to our Group and our Group 

will then arrange movie screening in our cinemas. Our Group will first receive the net cinema 

box office income generated from the film screening and then split a portion of such revenue 

with Poly Group and/or its associates in accordance with the respective sharing percentage 

as set out in the separate underlying contracts as agreed by both parties after arm-length 

negotiations.
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Listing Rules Implications

As Poly Group is the Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Poly Group constitutes a Connected 

Person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Cinema Box 

Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement between the Company and Poly Group constitutes 

a Continuing Connected Transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio to the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework 

Agreement between the Company and Poly Group is more than 5%, thus the Continuing Connected 

Transactions under the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing Framework Agreement shall be subject 

to the annual reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has obtained waivers from the Stock Exchange for the annual caps of such Continuing 

Connected Transactions to exempt from the requirements of announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval.

Transaction and its Reasons

Historically, we entered into intra-group box office income sharing agreements with Poly Wanhe 

Cinema Circuit (a then non wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company mainly engaging in the cinema 

circuit business before the reorganization). Pursuant to those agreements, Poly Wanhe Cinema 

Circuit provided new film prints to us and we then arranged movie screening in our cinemas. Cinema 

circuit business is forbidden for foreign investment under the applicable PRC laws and regulations. 

Upon the Listing, the Company became an enterprise with foreign investment and is prohibited from 

investing or conducting cinema circuit business. Accordingly, during our preparation for the Listing, 

our Group had to dispose of the cinema circuit business and we transferred our 51% equity interest 

in Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit to Poly Group as part of the Reorganization. Our Directors expect 

that, among others, considering that the historical sound business relationship between Poly Wanhe 

Cinema Circuit and our cinemas, and the fact that the relevant income sharing percentages are 

comparable to the market standards, it is in the Group’s interest that such arrangement between 

our Group and Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit will continue after the Listing. Any cessation of such 

arrangement may cause unnecessary disruption to our business operation.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the Prospectus of the Company.
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the above Continuing Connected 

Transactions and confirmed that the transactions:

1.	 were entered into during our ordinary and usual course of business;

2.	 were conducted on normal commercial terms or more favorable terms; and

3.	 were conducted in accordance with relevant terms of the transaction agreements, and the transactions 

terms are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

CONFIRMATION FROM THE AUDITORS
Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged KPMG as the international auditor of the 
Company to conduct a limited assurance engagement on the above Continuing Connected Transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter 
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. The Board confirmed that the auditor has reported the results of their procedures 
to the Board stating that:

a.	 nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed Continuing 
Connected Transactions have not been approved by the Board of Directors.

b.	 for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s 
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the pricing policies of the Company.

c.	 nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were 
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 
transactions.

d.	 with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the Continuing Connected Transactions set out above, 
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that such Continuing 
Connected Transactions have exceeded the applied maximum aggregate annual caps for the year 2015.
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NON-COMPETING UNDERTAKING
Poly Group, the Controlling Shareholder of the Company, signed a non-competition undertaking on February 
14, 2014 (the “Non-competition Undertaking”). Pursuant to the Non-competition Undertaking, Poly Group has 
irrevocably undertaken that it would not and will procure that its associates (except any members of our Group) 
would not, directly or indirectly, whether as principal or agent, either on their own account or in conjunction 
with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, whether inside or outside the PRC, among other things, carry 
on, engage, participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved in any 
business which is in competition with the business of any member of our Group from time to time. Poly Group 
has also undertaken to our Company that, if there is any new business opportunity in the restricted business, 
it shall within a reasonable period of time refer such new business opportunity to our Company. Such business 
opportunity shall first be offered and made available to us. Poly Group shall not invest, participate, be engaged 
in and/or operate in such business opportunity unless the Company has declined in writing or failed to respond 
within thirty (30) days after being notified of such opportunity.

For details about the above-mentioned Non-competition Undertaking, please refer to the Prospectus.

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s Controlling Shareholder has complied with the Non-competing 
Undertaking.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT, SHARE OPTION ARRANGEMENTS
During the year ended December 31, 2015, Shareholders have no pre-emptive right or any share option 
arrangements in accordance with applicable PRC laws and the Articles.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended December 31, 2015, no contracts of significance in 

respect of provision of services or otherwise were entered into between the Company or its subsidiaries and the 

Controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and so far as the Directors are aware, not less than 25% 

of the issued Share capital of the Company was held by the public as at the Latest Practicable Date, which was 

in compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For details of analysis of main risks and uncertainties, please refer to “Management Discussion and Analysis – 

Risk Factors” of this report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE GROUP

For details of analysis of future development of the Group, please refer to “Management Discussion and Analysis –  

Outlooks” of this report.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Board recommends to distribute a final dividend of RMB0.264 per share (tax inclusive) in cash to the 

Shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2015. The dividend mentioned above will be distributed before 

the end of August, 2016 upon approval of Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the year ended December 31, 2015. 

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no material litigation or claim which are pending or threatened against 

the Company.

AUDIT OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2015, including the accounting 

principles and practices adopted, have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors together 

with the external auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board of Directors

Xu Niansha

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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The current session of the Board of Supervisors was re-elected upon approval by the Fifth Extraordinary General 

Meeting in 2013 of the company convened on December 27, 2013, and consists of three Supervisors.

In 2015, the Board of Supervisors of the Company, for the sake of long-term interests of the Company and rights 

and interests of Shareholders, dutifully supervised the performance of duties by Directors and senior management 

personnel of the Company in strict accordance with laws including PRC Company Law, regulations, rules and 

normative documents, the Articles, the Rules of Procedure for Meetings of the Board of Supervisors of Poly 

Culture Group Corporation Limited and the Listing Rules. Following is a report on the principal work during the 

Reporting Period:

I.	 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

1.	 On March 24, 2015, the second session of the Board of Supervisors convened its fourth meeting 

and deliberated and approved Proposal on Work Report 2014 of the Board of Supervisors of the 

Company, Proposal on 2014 Annual Results Announcement of the Company, Proposal on the 2014 

Annual Report of the Company, Proposal on the Financial Report of the Company for the year 2014, 

Proposal on the Dividend Distribution Plan of the Company for the year 2014 and Proposal on the 

Financial Budget of the Company for the year 2015.

2.	 On August 25, 2015, the second session of the Board of Supervisors convened its fifth meeting 

and deliberated and approved Proposal on 2015 Interim Result Announcement of the Company 

and Proposal on 2015 Interim Report of the Company.

II.	 WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

1.	 Examine the lawful operation of the Company1.	 Examine the lawful operation of the Company

During the Reporting Period, Supervisors attended all the general meetings convened by the 

Company, were present at all the meetings convened by the Board of Directors, and reviewed the 

proposals submitted to the Board of Directors. At the relevant meetings, Supervisors supervised 

the decision-making process regarding major issues and the performance of duties by Directors 

and senior management personnel, and participated in and supervised various links of Listing of the 

Company. The Board of Supervisors holds that the decisions on major issues were made legally 

and that all Directors and senior management personnel of the Company are dutiful and diligent 

at work and strictly implement resolutions of the general meeting in the principle of legal operation 

and prudent decision-making, and neither violate laws, regulations or the Articles nor damage the 

interests of the Company and Shareholders in performing duties.

2.	 Examine the financial information of the Company2.	 Examine the financial information of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors reviewed relevant financial data of the 

Company and its affiliates and audit reports of the Company and its affiliates provided by auditors. 

The Board of Supervisors holds that accounts and financial accounting of the Company and its 

affiliates comply with Accounting Law of the People’s Republic of China, Accounting Standards 

for Business Enterprises and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, and does not find any 

problems regarding the aforesaid issues.
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3.	 Strengthen building of internal control of the Company3.	 Strengthen building of internal control of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors participated in the building of the internal 

control system of the Company. As required by the requirements of the listed companies, the 

Company formulated and amended the systems, including “Internal Control Management Manual”, 

and “Internal Control Evaluation Manual”, continuously improving the internal control management 

system of the Company. The Board of Supervisors holds that the building of the aforesaid systems 

has laid a benign foundation for the Company’s overall operation, formed a scientific decision-

making mechanism, execution mechanism and supervisory mechanism, improved the corporate 

management level and enhanced the corporate risk resistance capability.

Liu Juncai

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
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The Company and its subsidiaries are committed to maintaining high-level corporate governance to protect the 

interests of Shareholders and improve the corporate value and accountability. During the Reporting Period, the 

Company has complied with all the code provisions in Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the Listing 

Rules and adopted most of the recommended best practices therein.

Corporate governance practices of the Company during the Reporting Period are summarized below:

1.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.1	 Composition of the Board of Directors1.1	 Composition of the Board of Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Directors comprised nine Directors, including four executive 

Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Listed below 

are incumbent Directors of the Company:

Name Position
  

Xu Niansha Chairman and executive Director

Li Nan Vice chairman and executive Director

Zhang Xi Executive Director

Jiang Yingchun Chief Executive Officer and executive Director

Wang Lin Non-executive Director

Zhao Zigao Non-executive Director

Li Boqian Independent non-executive Director

Li Xiaohui Independent non-executive Director

Yip Wai Ming Independent non-executive Director

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Directors has complied with the requirement of the 

Listing Rules on appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing 

at least one-third of members of the Board of Directors and at least one of whom shall have 

relevant professional qualifications, or accounting or relevant financial management expertise. The 

qualifications of the three independent non-executive Directors of the Company fully comply with 

Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing Rules.

None of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company has any business or financial 

interests in the Company and its subsidiaries, nor do they hold any executive positions in the 

Company, which effectively guaranteed their independence. The Company has received from each 

of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their independence as per 

Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company is of the opinion that 

all the independent non-executive Directors are independent as per Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The term of office of the independent non-executive Directors Mr. Li Boqian, Ms. Li Xiaohui and Mr. 

Yip Wai Ming shall be three years as from December 27, 2013. The term of office of the non-executive 

Directors Mr. Wang Lin and Mr. Zhao Zigao shall be three years as from December 27, 2013. 
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The profiles of the Directors are set out in pages 62 to 64 of this report. Members of the Board 

of Directors do not have any relations between each other (including financial, business, family or 

other material or related relations). The Board of Directors is well-balanced in structure and each 

of its members is knowledgeable, richly experienced and talented in the business operation and 

development of the Company. All the Directors understand their joint and several responsibilities 

for Shareholders of the Company.

1.2	 Board Meetings1.2	 Board Meetings

The Board of Directors decides to hold Board meetings regularly: at least four meetings per year 

and roughly on a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to all the 

Directors at least 14 days in advance for them to arrange the attendance for the meeting, with the 

matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting.

A Board meeting shall be attended by more than half of the Directors. Directors shall personally 

attend the meeting. In the event that any Director is unable to attend a meeting for any reason, he 

may appoint another Director by a written power of attorney.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Board of Directors held five meetings in total, with 

details of the attendance of Directors specified as follows:

Name Position

Meetings 

attended/

Meetings 

eligible 

to attend

Attendance 

Rate
    

Xu Niansha Chairman and Executive Director 5/5 100%

Li Nan Vice Chairman and Executive Director 5/5 100%

Zhang Xi Executive Director 5/5 100%

Jiang Yingchun Chief Executive Officer and  

  Executive Director

5/5 100%

Wang Lin(1) Non-executive Director 4/5 80%

Zhao Zigao Non-executive Director 5/5 100%

Li Boqian(2) Independent non-executive Director 4/5 80%

Li Xiaohui Independent non-executive Director 5/5 100%

Yip Wai Ming(3) Independent non-executive Director 4/5 80%

Note:

1.	 Mr. Wang Lin was not able to attend the seventh meeting of the second session of the Board of Directors 
on August 25, 2015 due to personal reasons, and appointed Mr. Zhang Xi as his proxy to represent 
him and vote on his behalf.

2.	 Mr. Li Boqian was not able to attend the sixth meeting of the second session of the Board of Directors 
on March 25, 2015 due to personal reasons, and appointed Ms. Li Xiaohui as his proxy to represent 
him and vote on his behalf.
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3.	 Mr. Yip Wai Ming was not able to attend the sixth meeting of the second session of the Board of 
Directors on March 25, 2015 due to personal reasons, and appointed Ms. Li Xiaohui as his proxy to 
represent him and vote on his behalf.

1.3	 Functions and Powers Exercised by the Board of Directors and the Management1.3	 Functions and Powers Exercised by the Board of Directors and the Management

The rights and duties of the Board of Directors and the management are specified in the Articles, so 

as to guarantee an adequate balance and restriction mechanism for a good corporate governance 

and internal control of the Company.

The Board of Directors shall be responsible for determining the Company’s operation plans and 

investment programs and the setting of its internal management organizations, formulating basic 

management system of the Company and hearing chief executive officer’s work report and examining 

the work thereof.

The Board of Directors admits that it is the common responsibility of all Directors to perform the 

duty of corporate governance, including:

(a)	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 

regulatory requirements;

(c)	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable 

to the Company’s Directors, Supervisors and employees; and

(d)	 to review the Company’s compliance with Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in 

the corporate governance report.

1.4	 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer1.4	 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Positions of the chairman and the chief executive officer (chief executive officer under relevant 

rules of the Listing Rules) of the Company are served by different persons to secure independence 

of their duties and accountabilities and balanced distribution of rights and authorizations. Mr. Xu 

Niansha serves as the chairman of the Board of Directors and Mr. Jiang Yingchun serves as the 

chief executive officer. The Articles defines duties of the chairman and the chief executive officer.

1.5	 Directors’ Appointment and Re-election1.5	 Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

According to the Articles, Directors shall be elected at the general meeting. A Director shall serve 

a term of office for no longer than three years and is eligible for re-election. The Company has 

implemented a set of effective procedures for appointment of new Directors. The nomination of new 

Directors shall be first deliberated by the Nomination Committee of the Board and then submitted 

to the Board of Directors, subject to the approval by the general meeting.
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1.6	 Board Diversity Policy1.6	 Board Diversity Policy

In accordance with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance 

Report in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules by the Stock Exchange, the Company prepared Board 

Diversity Policy of Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited, which has been submitted to the Board 

of Directors for examination and approval, as summarized below:

The Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) of the Company specifies that in designing the composition 

the Board of Directors, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of aspects, including 

but not limited to age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and 

knowledge. All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be 

considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board 

of Directors. Selection of Director candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, 

including but not limited to gender, age, culture, race and educational background, professional 

experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee of the Board will disclose the composition of the Board of Directors 

in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the implementation of this Policy. The 

Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of this 

Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend 

any such revisions to the Board of Directors for examination and approval.

1.7	 Emoluments of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management and Five 1.7	 Emoluments of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management and Five 
Highest Paid IndividualsHighest Paid Individuals

Emoluments of Directors, Supervisors and senior management shall be proposed by the Remuneration 

and Assessment Committee based on educational background and work experience, and upon 

approval by the general meeting, be determined by the Board of Directors with reference to Director’s 

experience, work performance and position as well as the market.

Details of emoluments of Directors, Supervisors, senior management and five highest paid individuals 

of the Company are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the Financial Statements of this report.
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1.8	 Training for Directors1.8	 Training for Directors

The Company submits “monthly management reports” to the Directors, to keep them posted with 

the latest information of the Company, the industry status and developments. The Company also 

collects the latest amendments to the securities laws, regulations and regulatory rules which come 

to its attention and submits them to the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the 

Company. In addition, during 2015, all Directors (namely Mr. Xu Niansha, Mr. Li Nan, Mr. Zhang 

Xi, Mr. Jiang Yingchun, Mr. Wang Lin, Mr. Zhao Zigao, Mr. Li Boqian, Ms. Li Xiaohui and Mr. Yip 

Wai Ming) have participated in the training of “compliant operation and responsibilities of directors, 

supervisors and senior management of Hong Kong listed companies”, to ensure that they continue 

to have comprehensive information and contribute to the Board of Directors when necessary. 

1.9	 Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management’s Liability Insurance1.9	 Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management’s Liability Insurance

The Company has bought Directors, Supervisors and senior management’s liability insurance for 

any of their possible legal action.

2.	 BOARD COMMITTEES

There are five committees under the Board of Directors, namely, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, 

Remuneration and Assessment Committee, Art Committee and Strategy Committee.

2.1	 Audit Committee2.1	 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three Directors: Ms. Li Xiaohui (independent non-executive Director), 

Mr. Yip Wai Ming (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhao Zigao (non-executive Director). 

Ms. Li Xiaohui currently serves as the chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are reviewing and supervising our financial 

reporting procedures, including to propose appointment or replacement of the external auditors; 

to oversee the Company’s internal audit system and its implementation; to coordinate internal and 

external auditors; to review the Company’s financial information and its disclosure; to examine the 

Company’s, internal monitoring and, to audit material connected transactions, to nominate the 

person in charge of the internal audit department of the Company; and other matters as authorised 

by the Board of Directors of the Company.
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During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Audit Committee held four meetings, the details 

of which are as follows:

Name Position

Meetings 

attended/

Meetings 

eligible to 

attend

Attendance 

Rate
    

Li Xiaohui Independent non-executive Director 4/4 100%

Yip Wai Ming(Note) Independent non-executive Director 3/4 75%

Zhao Zigao Non-executive Director 4/4 100%

Note:	 Mr. Yip Wai Ming was not able to attend the fourth meeting of the second session of the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors on March 25, 2015 due to personal reasons, and appointed Ms. Li Xiaohui 
as his proxy to represent him and vote on his behalf.

The Audit Committee of the Company directed and supervised the Company’s internal audit 

department, considered and approved the appointment of the domestic and international auditors 

and the Financial Reports 2014 of the Company, and submitted the above proposals to the Board 

of Directors for their consideration. The Audit Committee of the Company also recognized the 

Connected Transactions of the Company in 2014.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Company’s Annual Results for 2015, and 

the Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

2.2	 Nomination Committee2.2	 Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company consists of three Directors: Mr. Li Boqian (independent 

non-executive Director), Mr. Zhang Xi (executive Director) and Ms. Li Xiaohui (independent non-

executive Director). Mr. Li Boqian currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Company’s Nomination Committee are preparing the procedures 

and criteria for determining the candidates for the Directors and senior management of the Company 

and conducting preliminary review on their qualifications and credentials, including proposing to 

the Board on its size and composition in accordance with the Company’s operating results, assets 

and shareholding structure; reviewing the procedures and criteria for determining the candidates 

for the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and make proposals to the Board of 

Directors; and looking widely for the qualified candidates for the Directors.
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During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Nomination Committee held one meeting on August 

19, 2015, the details of which are as follows:

Name Position

Meetings 

attended/

Meetings 

eligible to 

attend

Attendance 

Rate
    

Li Boqian Independent non-executive Director 1/1 100%

Zhang Xi Executive Director 1/1 100%

Li Xiaohui Independent non-executive Director 1/1 100%

2.3	 Remuneration and Assessment Committee2.3	 Remuneration and Assessment Committee

The Remuneration and Assessment Committee consists of three Directors: Mr. Yip Wai Ming 

(independent non-executive Director), Ms. Li Xiaohui (independent non-executive Director) and 

Mr. Jiang Yingchun (executive Director). Mr. Yip Wai Ming currently serves as the chairman of the 

Remuneration and Assessment Committee.

The Company has adopted the model recommended by the Remuneration and Assessment 

Committee to the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration packages of executive Directors 

and senior management.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration and Assessment Committee are formulating 

the criteria for and conducting assessment on the Directors and senior management as well 

as determining and reviewing the remuneration policies and plans for the Directors and senior 

management, including formulating remuneration plans and proposals in accordance with the terms of 

reference of the Directors and senior management and the importance of their positions as well as the 

remuneration benchmarks for the relevant positions in other comparable companies; the remuneration 

plans and proposals include, but not limited to criteria, procedures and main assessment system 

for performance assessment, main proposals and regulations on award and punishment; reviewing 

the performance of the Directors and senior management and conducting annual assessment on 

their performance and results; supervising the implementation of the remuneration policies of the 

Company; and other matters that the Board of Directors has authorized it to deal with.

0 5 5



POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Remuneration and Assessment Committee held 

one meeting on August 24, 2015, the details of which are as follows:

Name Position

Meetings 

attended/

Meetings 

eligible to 

attend

Attendance 

Rate
    

Yip Wai Ming Independent non-executive Director 1/1 100%

Li Xiaohui Independent non-executive Director 1/1 100%

Jiang Yingchun Executive Director 1/1 100%

2.4	 Art Committee2.4	 Art Committee

The Art Committee of the Company consists of three Directors: Mr. Li Nan (executive Director), Mr. 

Jiang Yingchun (executive Director) and Mr. Li Boqian (independent non-executive Director). Mr. Li 

Nan currently serves as the chairman of the Art Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Art Committee are: conducting research and making proposals 

on the plans for investments and operation of the Company in culture and arts; conducting research 

and making proposals on important projects which involve culture and arts and need to be approved 

by the Board of Directors pursuant to the Articles; conducting research and making proposals on 

important investment projects of significant international influence; conducting research and making 

proposals on the projects for which the management consider necessary to obtain the opinions of 

the Art Committee; presenting suggestions and proposals directly to the Board of Directors if the 

Art Committee considers it necessary; and other matters that the Board of Directors has authorized 

it to deal with.

No meeting of the Art Committee was convened for the year ended December 31, 2015.

2.5	 Strategy Committee2.5	 Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee of the Company consists of five Directors: Mr. Xu Niansha (executive 

Director), Mr. Li Nan (executive Director), Mr. Zhang Xi (executive Director), Mr. Wang Lin (non- 

executive Director) and Mr. Jiang Yingchun (executive Director). Mr. Xu Niansha currently serves as 

the chairman of the Strategy Committee.

The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are: to consider and make recommendations on the 

strategic plan for the Company’s long-term development; to consider and make recommendations 

on the material investments and financing plans, subject to the Board of Directors’ approval, in 

accordance with the Articles; to consider and make recommendations on material capital operation 

and asset operating project, which are subject to the Board of Directors’ approval, in accordance 

with the Articles; to consider and make recommendations on other material matters that will affect 

the development of the Company; to review the implementation of above matters; and other matters 

that the Board of Directors has authorized it to deal with.

No meeting of the Strategy Committee was convened for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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3.	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors has confirmed its responsibility for preparing annual financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The Board of Directors is responsible for submitting a well-defined assessment on the interim and annual 

reports, stock price sensitive information, and other matters that need to be disclosed according to the 

Listing Rules and other regulatory provisions. The management has provided relevant and necessary 

explanation and information to the Board of Directors so that the Board of Directors could make informed 

assessment on the financial data and position of the Company for examination and approval.

The Company does not face any significant uncertainty likely to give rise to the significant doubt of the 

Company’s capability of sustained operations.

4.	 COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for all 

Directors and Supervisors to conduct transactions of the Company’s securities. The Company has also set 

guidelines, at least as strict as the Model Code, on transactions of the Company’s securities for relevant 

employees (as defined in the Listing Rules).

The Company has made specific inquiries to all Directors and Supervisors about their compliance with the 

Model Code, and they all confirmed that they complied with the standards specified in the Model Code 

during the Reporting Period.

The Company has made specific inquiries of relevant employees about their compliance with the guidelines 

on transactions of the Company’s securities, without noticing any violation of the guidelines.

5.	 JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

To maintain sound corporate governance practices and guarantee the compliance with the Listing Rules 

and applicable laws, the Company appointed Mr. Chen Peng and Ms. Yung Mei Yee as the joint company 

secretaries. Ms. Yung Mei Yee assisted Mr. Chen Peng in performing his duties as a company secretary 

of the Company. Mr. Chen Peng is the main contact person of the Company.

The joint company secretaries of the Company, Mr. Chen Peng and Ms. Yung Mei Yee participated in 

relevant trainings in 2015, which met the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and the current joint 

company secretaries, Mr. Chen Peng and Ms. Mok Ming Wai will participate in relevant training in 2016.

The joint company secretary Ms. Yung Mei Yee resigned from her position on March 24, 2016, and 

the Company appointed Ms. Mok Ming Wai, the director and the department head of Listing Services 

Department of KCS Hong Kong Limited, as the joint company secretary of the Company, with effect from 

March 24, 2016.
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6.	 INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors of the Company understand that the Board of Directors shall be responsible for maintaining 

adequate internal control system to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and assets of the Company 

and reviewing the effectiveness of the system.

The Board of Directors has examined the effectiveness of internal control system of the Company, believing 

that the internal control system is effective and adequate.

7.	 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the remuneration to external auditor in respect of its annual audit 

services and was RMB3.8 million. There was no non-audit services fee.

8.	 GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company convened two general meetings, as detailed below:

Date Venue Meetings
   

June 25, 2015 Meeting Room, 29/F, New Poly Plaza,  

  1 North Street of Chaoyangmen, 

  Dongcheng District, Beijing, PRC

Annual General Meeting of 2014

November 3, 2015 Meeting Room, 29/F, New Poly Plaza,  

  1 North Street of Chaoyangmen, 

  Dongcheng District, Beijing, PRC

Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015

Attendance by Directors:

Name Position

Meetings 

attended/

Meetings 

eligible to 

attend

Attendance 

Rate
    

Xu Niansha(1) Chairman and Executive Director 0/2 0%

Li Nan(2) Vice Chairman and Executive Director 1/2 50%

Zhang Xi(3) Executive Director 1/2 50%

Jiang Yingchun Chief Executive Officer and  

  Executive Director

2/2 100%

Wang Lin(4) Non-executive Director 1/2 50%

Zhao Zigao(5) Non-executive Director 1/2 50%

Li Boqian Independent non-executive Director 2/2 100%

Li Xiaohui(6) Independent non-executive Director 1/2 50%

Yip Wai Ming(7) Independent non-executive Director 1/2 50%
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Note:

1.	 Mr. Xu Niansha was not able to attend the Annual General Meeting of 2014 on June 25, 2015 and the Extraordinary 
General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due to personal reasons.

2.	 Mr. Li Nan was not able to attend the Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due to 
personal reasons.

3.	 Mr. Zhang Xi was not able to attend the Annual General Meeting of 2014 on June 25, 2015 due to personal 
reasons.

4.	 Mr. Wang Lin was not able to attend the Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due to 
personal reasons.

5.	 Mr. Zhao Zigao was not able to attend the Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due 
to personal reasons.

6.	 Mr. Li Xiaohui was not able to attend the Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due to 
personal reasons.

7.	 Mr. Yip Wai Ming was not able to attend the Extraordinary General Meeting of 2015 on November 3, 2015 due 
to personal reasons.

9.	 COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company continuously attaches great importance to maintaining and developing investor relations for 

a long time, enhances transparency of the corporate information by promptly and effectively releasing the 

corporate information to the public, and has established effective channels for the Company to communicate 

with the investor.

9.1	 Shareholders’ Rights9.1	 Shareholders’ Rights

Where the Company convenes a general meeting, a notice of the meeting in written form or in 

electronic form (by publishing announcement on, including but not limited to, the websites of the 

Stock Exchange for information disclosure and the Company) shall be given not less than 45 days 

before the date of the meeting to notify all of the Shareholders in the Shareholders’ register of 

the matters to be considered and the date and venue of the meeting to be held. Any Shareholder 

intending to attend the meeting shall deliver to the Company a written reply showing his/her intention 

to attend at least 20 days before the meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding more than 10% of the Company’s Shares, individually or jointly, shall have 

the right to request the Board of Directors in writing to convene an extraordinary general meeting 

or a class general meeting. The Board of Directors shall provide its written feedback on agreeing or 

disagreeing to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class general meeting within 10 days 

after receiving the proposal in accordance with the provisions of laws, administrative regulations 

and the Articles.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class general 

meeting, a notice of general meeting shall be issued within five days after the resolution of the Board 

of Directors meeting is made. The changes to the original proposal in the notice shall be subject 

to consent of the Shareholders who make the said proposal.
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If the Board of Directors disagrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class general 

meeting or fails to make any feedback within 10 days after receiving the proposal, Shareholder(s) 

holding more than 10% of the Company’s Shares, individually or jointly, shall have the right to request 

the Board of Supervisors in writing to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class general 

meeting, and the request to the Board of Supervisors shall be made in written form.

According to the Articles, Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more than 3% of the 

Shares may submit a proposal to the Board in writing 10 days before the date of the general meeting. 

The Board shall notify other Shareholders within two days upon the receipt of the proposal and include 

it for consideration at the general meeting. The written proposal shall be addressed to the Board.

9.2	 Inquiry and Communication of Shareholders9.2	 Inquiry and Communication of Shareholders

The Company releases its announcements, financial data and other relevant data on its website 

www.polyculture.com.cn, which serves as a channel facilitating effective communication. The 

Shareholders may send any inquiry in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong 

Kong. The Company will properly handle all inquiries in time.

The Board of Directors welcomes suggestions from Shareholders, and encourages Shareholders to 

attend general meetings to directly express misgivings that they may have to the Board of Directors 

and the management. Usually, the chairman of the Board of Directors and the chairmen of respective 

committees would attend annual general meetings and other general meetings to answer questions 

put forward by Shareholders.

Detailed voting procedure and resolutions voted on are set out in the Shareholders’ circulars before 

the general meetings.

10.	 INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers it crucial to provide investors with accurate information in a timely manner and 

maintain communication with investors through effective communication channels, with an aim to enhance 

mutual understanding between investors and the Company and improve the transparency of the Company’s 

information disclosure.

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company shall duly disseminate its corporate information via 

various channels. Such channels include annual reports, announcements and company website. After formal 

announcement of its results in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company will arrange for meetings 

during which the management will answer relevant questions from investors.

11.	 ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND ITS AMENDMENT

The Articles took effect on the Listing Date. During the year ended December 31, 2015, there were no 

significant changes in the Articles.

The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Placing an emphasis on operation efficiency and corporate development, the Company adheres to the unity of 

social benefits and economic benefits, receiving favorable comments from different circles in society by proactively 

shouldering social responsibility, contributing to the community and caring about others.

In response to the “One Belt One Road” development strategy of the PRC, with the support of Qinhuangdao City 

government and Beidaihe District government, Poly Auction Beijing held “ ‘One Belt One Road’ – Chinese 5000-

Year Civilization Exhibition” and “Summer Charity Auction” in Beidaihe. The exhibits were precious treasures in 

relation to “One Belt One Road”, including 26 national treasures from Western Zhou Dynasty (1050BC to 771BC) 

to modern China as well as Old Summer Palace bronze heads, which showed the Company shouldered its social 

responsibility.

“Golden Age Collection” – Poly Culture Art Appreciation Exhibition, organized by the Company, was successfully 

held on September 25th and 26th at the Royal Centre in downtown Vancouver, Canada. The exhibition, at which 

twenty porcelain antiques tracing back to Ming (1368-1644) and Qing (1644-1911) dynasties as well as twelve 

famous calligraphy and paintings auctioned by Poly Auction Beijing were displayed to the audiences, which not 

only showed the booming of Chinese modern art and artwork collection market, but also increased the influence 

of the Company in overseas countries. Ms. Teresa Wat, Clark and International Trade Minister of British Columbia, 

Canada, awarded the Poly North American Investment Company Limited with a certificate as a recognition and 

praise to the Company for its contribution to promote culture diversity in Canada.

Leveraged its own advantages, Poly Theatre Management organized the staging of Er Ren Tai quality performances 

of Hequ folk song “Poly Love, Xikou Wind (《保利情西口風》)”, a cultural project of Poly Group to help the poor 

with culture, gaining wide compliments from various parties. In 2015, Poly Theatre Management compiled “Theatre 

Management Practice (《劇院管理實務》)”, published by Guangming Publishing House. The book sums up the 

theatre management experience of Poly Theatre, and writes about modern theatre management regulation and 

regime, setting up standards and regulations for China theatre management industry.

In 2015, Poly Film was responsible for organizing two major programs – “Beijing Film Panorama” and “Red Carpet 

Premiere” of the Fifth Beijing International Film Festival, and provided technical support for the whole film festival.
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DIRECTORS

Executive DirectorsExecutive Directors

Mr. Xu Niansha, aged 59, joined the Company in December 2014 and has been the chairman since then. Mr. 

Xu has been the chairman of Poly Group since May 2013. Mr. Xu also serves as a director of Straco Corporation 

Limited (新加坡星雅集團) and a member of the 12th national committee of the Chinese People Political Consultation 

Conference. Mr. Xu has successively served as the general manager of Huahai Real Estate Development Corporation 

(華海房地產開發公司), the chairman and the general manager of China Ocean Aviation Group Limited (中國海
洋航空集團公司), the vice chairman of China National Machinery Industry Corporation (中國機械工業集團有限公
司) and the vice chairman of CITIC Offshore Helicopter Co., Ltd. (中信海洋直升機股份有限公司). Mr. Xu holds a 

doctor degree in Law and a doctor degree in Economics and was granted the qualification of senior engineer in 

professor level.

Mr. Li Nan, aged 60, joined the Company in January 2000 and served as a Director and general manager of 

our Company from January 2000 to November 2010. Mr. Li has been the vice chairman of our Company since 

December 2010. Mr. Li is also a director of Poly Theatre Management and Poly Film, the head of the China 

Philharmonic Orchestra, the vice president of Beijing Association for Performances and a director of Chinese 

Musicians Association. Mr. Li holds a postgraduate equivalent degree in Business Management and used to study 

violin performance and composition in the People’s Liberation Army Institute of Arts.

Mr. Zhang Xi, aged 54, joined the Company in December 2014 and has been an executive Director since then. 

Mr. Zhang has been the vice general manager of Poly Group since September 2014. Mr. Zhang also serves as 

the curator of Poly Art Museum and a director of Poly Jiu Lian Holding Group Co., Ltd. (保利久聯控股集團有限
責任公司). Mr. Zhang joined Poly Group since 1996 and successively served as the project manager of finance 

department of Poly Group, the chief accountant of Poly Plaza Co., Ltd. (保利大廈有限公司), the vice general 

manager and the general manager of Poly Finance, the assistant to general manager of Poly Group, the chairman 

of Poly Energy and the vice general manager and the chief financial officer of Poly Real Estate. Mr. Zhang holds 

a bachelor degree in Economics and was granted the qualification of senior accountant.

Mr. Jiang Yingchun, aged 47, joined the Company in December 2001, and has been an executive Director and 

Chief Executive Officer of the Company since December 2010. Mr. Jiang served as assistant to general manager 

from December 2001 to February 2007, and vice general manager from February 2007 to November 2010. Mr. 

Jiang is currently the chairman of Poly Auction Beijing, chairman of Poly Auction Hong Kong, chairman of Poly Art 

Centre, a director of Poly Art Investment, the chairman of Poly Film, chairman of Beijing Poly Music Art, and the 

director of the North American Company. Mr. Jiang holds a bachelor degree in History majoring in Archaeology 

and qualification as an editor.
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Non-executive DirectorsNon-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Lin, aged 52, joined the Company in March 2013 and has been a non-executive Director since then. 

Mr. Wang also serves as the vice general manager of Poly Group, the chairman of Poly Mining Investment Co., 

Ltd., and the chairman of Sino Africa Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (中非投資發展有限公司). Mr. Wang 

holds a master degree in Literature.

Mr. Zhao Zigao, aged 54, joined the Company in November 2007 and has been a non-executive Director since 

then. Mr. Zhao is also the head of the News Center of Poly Group, a director of Poly Property, and a director of 

Poly Investment Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhao also served as the head of the corporate development department 

of Poly Group. Mr. Zhao holds a master degree in Economics.

Independent non-executive DirectorsIndependent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Boqian, aged 79, joined the Company in December 2013 and has been an independent non-executive 

Director since then. Mr. Li has been a teacher in Archaeology Department of Peking University since 1961 and 

has been a professor and doctoral tutor of School of Archaeology and Museology of Peking University since 1990 

and 1996, respectively. Mr. Li holds a bachelor degree in Archaeology.

Ms. Li Xiaohui, aged 48, joined the Company in December 2010 and has been an independent non-executive 

Director since then. Ms. Li has served as a professor and doctoral tutor of the School of Accountancy of the Central 

University of Finance and Economics and a member of the Professional Technology Consultancy Committee of 

the Association of Registered Accountants of the PRC (中國註冊會計師協會專業技術諮詢委員會) since January 

2007. Ms. Li is currently an independent non-executive director of Kailuan Energy Chemical Co., Ltd., Bank of 

Beijing Co., Ltd., China U-Ton Holdings Limited and Fangda Carbon New Material Technology Co., Ltd.. Ms. Li 

holds a doctor degree in Economics.

Mr. Yip Wai Ming, aged 50, joined the Company in December 2013 and has been an independent non-executive 

Director since then. Mr. Yip is currently an independent non-executive director of BBMG Corporation, Ju Teng 

International Holdings Limited, Pax Global Technology Limited, Far East Horizon Limited and Yida China Holdings 

Limited. Mr. Yip is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. Mr. Yip holds a bachelor degree in Social Sciences and a bachelor degree in Law.
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SUPERVISORS

Mr. Liu Juncai, aged 51, joined the Company in December 2010 and has been the chairman of the Board of 

Supervisors since then. Mr. Liu is also an employee director of Poly Group, chairman of the trade union, the head 

of the office of Poly Group and a supervisor of Poly Real Estate. Mr. Liu holds a master’s equivalent degree in 

Business Management.

Mr. Liu Jianmin, aged 54, joined the Company in April 2005 and has been a Supervisor since March 2013. Mr. 

Liu is also a director of Poly Energy, a director of Poly Mining International Investment Corporation Limited and 

a director of Polystar Digidisc Co., Ltd (保利星數據光盤有限公司). Mr. Liu holds a bachelor degree in EMBA and 

qualification as a senior economist.

Mr. Guo Jianwei, aged 39, joined the Company in March 2011 and has been an employee Supervisor since 

March 2013. Mr. Guo is also the chief financial officer of Poly Auction Beijing since October 2014. Mr. Guo holds 

a master degree in business administration and qualification as an accountant.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ren Wei, aged 56, joined the Company in August 2000 and has been the vice president of the Company 

since April 2013. Mr. Ren also serves as the chairman of the North American Company, a director of Poly Theatre 

Management, a director of Poly Auction Beijing and a director of Poly Auction Hong Kong. Mr. Ren holds a 

master’s equivalent degree in Enterprise Management.

Mr. Zhou You, aged 55, joined the Company in 2003 and has been the vice president of the Company since 

January 2003. Mr. Zhou also serves as a director of Poly Theatre Management. Mr. Zhou holds a bachelor degree 

in Literary Editing and qualification as an editor.

Mr. Liu Debin, aged 43, joined the Company in March 2011 and has been the vice president since March 2013. 

Mr. Liu also serves as a director and general manager of Poly Film, and a director of the North American Company. 

Mr. Liu holds a bachelor degree in Industrial Accounting and qualification as a senior economist.

Ms. Wang Wei, aged 48, joined the Company in June 2010 and has been the chief financial officer since April 

2013. She has been the vice president of the Company since March 2016. Ms. Wang also serves as the chairman 

of Poly Auction Guangdong, a director of Poly Theatre Management, a director of Poly Auction Beijing, a director 

of Poly Auction Hong Kong, a director of Poly Art Investment and a director of the North American Company. 

Ms. Wang holds her bachelor degree in Technology of Foreign Trade and qualification as a senior accountant.

Mr. Chen Peng, aged 36, joined the Company in September 2002 and has been the secretary to the Board of 

Directors since December 2010. Mr. Chen is also a director of Poly Auction Guangdong, Poly Art Centre and 

Poly Film, a supervisor of Poly Theatre Management and Poly Art Investment. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor degree 

in Chrematistics and qualification as an accountant.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited (the “Company”) 

and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 144, which comprise the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at December 31, 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 

a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This 

report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

0 6 5



POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Independent Auditor’s Report

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 

as at December 31, 2015 and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 24, 2016
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for the year ended December 31, 2015

(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Revenue 4 2,504,965 2,243,024

Cost of sales (1,548,610) (1,249,597)
    

Gross profit 956,355 993,427

Other revenue 6 22,994 25,301

Other net income 6 36,241 8,067

Selling and distribution expenses (288,482) (239,274)

Administrative expenses (338,209) (300,885)
    

Profit from operations 388,899 486,636

Finance income 79,012 81,395

Finance costs 7(a) (5,094) (22,399)

Share of profits less losses of associates (6,615) 26

Share of losses of joint ventures 14 (5,896) (1,571)
    

Profit before taxation 7 450,306 544,087

Income tax 8 (117,740) (130,763)
    

Profit for the year 332,566 413,324
    

Attributable to:

  Equity shareholders of the Company 237,790 251,519

  Non-controlling interests 94,776 161,805
    

Profit for the year 332,566 413,324
    

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB) 11 0.97 1.09
    

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity 

shareholders of the company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 24(b).
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(Expressed in RMB)

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Profit for the year 332,566 413,324
 ------------------– –-----------------–  

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

  profit or loss:

  Exchange differences on translation of financial 

    statements of operations outside the PRC 9,971 697
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 342,537 414,021
    

Attributable to:

  Equity shareholders of the Company 242,211 251,902

  Non-controlling interests 100,326 162,119
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 342,537 414,021
    

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
at December 31, 2015

(Expressed in RMB)

2015 2014
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 596,564 543,603
Long-term prepayments 3,504 3,806
Interest in associates 4,211 3,426
Interest in joint ventures 14 32,533 23,429
Other financial assets 15 69,741 100
Deferred tax assets 23(b) 12,073 11,598
    

718,626 585,962
    

Current assets
Inventories 16 1,661,343 1,468,809
Trade and bills receivables 17 148,106 149,101
Consignor advances 18 1,027,364 884,823
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 675,182 697,097
Restricted cash 1,000 –
Banks deposits with original maturities over three months 70,112 29,800
Cash and cash equivalents 20 1,415,268 1,536,301
    

4,998,375 4,765,931
    

Current liabilities
Bank loans 21 25,133 100,000
Trade and other payables 22 1,497,782 1,285,801
Current taxation 23(a) 62,989 75,877
    

1,585,904 1,461,678
------------------– –-----------------–   

Net current assets 3,412,471 3,304,253
------------------– –-----------------–   

Total assets less current liabilities 4,131,097 3,890,215
------------------– –-----------------–   

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 21 67,822 –
Deferred revenue 2,665 369
Deferred tax liabilities 23(b) 199 187
Trade and other payables 22 21,588 18,659
    

92,274 19,215
------------------– –-----------------–   

NET ASSETS 4,038,823 3,871,000
    

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
at December 31, 2015
(Expressed in RMB)

2015 2014
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 24(c) 246,316 246,316
Reserves 3,407,124 3,221,303
    

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
  of the Company 3,653,440 3,467,619

Non-controlling interests 385,383 403,381
    

TOTAL EQUITY 4,038,823 3,871,000
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 24, 2016.

Jiang Yingchun Wang Wei

Director Authorised Non-director

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended December 31, 2015

(Expressed in RMB)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

Share

Capital

Share

premium

Capital

reserve

PRC

statutory

reserve

Retained

profits

Exchange

reserve Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

note 24(c) note 24(d)(ii) note 24(d)(i) note 24(d)(iii) note 24(d)(iv)
          

Balance at January 1, 2014 165,000 4,874 (3,996) 56,825 935,697 (1,573) 1,156,827 377,603 1,534,430
-------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------–  

Changes in equity for 2014:

Profit for the year – – – – 251,519 – 251,519 161,805 413,324

Other comprehensive income – – – – – 383 383 314 697
          

Total comprehensive income – – – – 251,519 383 251,902 162,119 414,021

Issuance of shares upon public

  offering, net of issuing expenses 81,316 1,977,574 – – – – 2,058,890 – 2,058,890

Appropriation of reserve – – – 20,668 (20,668) – – – –

Capital contributions from

  non-controlling equity owners – – – – – – – 7,909 7,909

Dividends declared by subsidiaries to 

  non-controlling equity owners – – – – – – – (144,250) (144,250)
          

Balance at December 31, 2014

  and January 1, 2015 246,316 1,982,448 (3,996) 77,493 1,166,548 (1,190) 3,467,619 403,381 3,871,000
          

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended December 31, 2015
(Expressed in RMB)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

Share

Capital

Share

premium

Capital

reserve

PRC

statutory

reserve

Retained

profits

Exchange

reserve Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

note 24(c) note 24(d)(ii) note 24(d)(i) note 24(d)(iii) note 24(d)(iv)
          

Balance at January 1, 2015 246,316 1,982,448 (3,996) 77,493 1,166,548 (1,190) 3,467,619 403,381 3,871,000
-------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------– –------------–  

Changes in equity for 2015:

Profit for the year – – – – 237,790 – 237,790 94,776 332,566

Other comprehensive income – – – – – 4,421 4,421 5,550 9,971
          

Total comprehensive income – – – – 237,790 4,421 242,211 100,326 342,537

Acquisition of non-controlling interests – – (476) – – – (476) 476 –

Appropriation of reserve – – – 24,097 (24,097) – – – –

Capital contributions from

  non-controlling equity owners – – – – – – – 13,180 13,180

Dividends approved in respect 

  of the previous year – – – – (55,914) – (55,914) – (55,914)

Dividends declared by subsidiaries to 

  non-controlling equity owners – – – – – – – (131,980) (131,980)
          

Balance at December 31, 2015 246,316 1,982,448 (4,472) 101,590 1,324,327 3,231 3,653,440 385,383 4,038,823
          

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended December 31, 2015

(Expressed in RMB)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 450,306 544,087

Adjustments for:

  Depreciation 7(c) 87,561 60,313

  Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 64 104

  Net gain on disposal of other financial assets (400) –

  Impairment losses on trade and bills receivables 7(c) 16,159 4,198

  Impairment (recovery)/losses on deposits, 

    prepayments and other receivables 7(c) (310) 963

  Interest earned from consignor advances (66,123) (46,429)

  Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 2,385 (1,577)

  Finance costs 7(a) 5,094 22,399

  Amortisation of deferred revenue (895) (198)

  Share of profits less losses of associates 6,615 (26)

  Share of losses of joint ventures 14 5,896 1,571

Changes in working capital:

  Increase in inventories (192,534) (663,482)

  Increase in trade and bills receivables (15,164) (13,338)

  Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments 

    and other receivables 28,754 (168,688)

  Decrease in long-term prepayments 302 400

  Increase in restricted cash (1,000) –

  Increase in trade and other payables 185,519 129,103
    

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 512,229 (130,600)

  Tax paid

    – PRC income tax paid 23(a) (131,103) (130,079)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 381,126 (260,679)
------------------– –-----------------–   

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended December 31, 2015
(Expressed in RMB)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash flows from investing activities

  Payment for the purchase of property, plant 

    and equipment (134,717) (177,940)

  Payment for consignor advances (142,541) (643,883)

  Funding of loans (66,550) –

  Disposal of other financial assets 500 –

  Addition of bank deposit with maturity over three months (40,312) (5,900)

  Investments in a joint venture and an associate (17,400) (18,400)

  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 356 94

  Interest received from consignor advances 54,593 805
    

Net cash used in investing activities (346,071) (845,224)
------------------– –-----------------–   

Cash flows from financing activities

  Proceeds from issuance of shares upon public offering, 

    net of issuing expenses – 2,058,890

  Capital contributions from non-controlling equity 

    owners of subsidiaries 13,180 7,909

  Proceeds from bank loans 290,493 1,159,000

  Repayment of bank loans (300,534) (1,267,000)

  Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling 

    equity owners (98,830) (143,746)

  Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company (55,914) (156,750)

  Borrowing costs paid (5,094) (22,399)
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (156,699) 1,635,904
------------------– –-----------------–   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (121,644) 530,001

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 20 1,536,301 1,004,723

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 611 1,577
    

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 20 1,415,268 1,536,301
    

The notes on pages 75 to 144 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

1	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ORGANISATION

Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited was established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) 

on December 14, 2010 as a joint stock company with limited liability. The Group is mainly engaged 

in art business and auction, performance and theatre management and cinema investment and 

management.

On March 6, 2014, the Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (“HKSE”).

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	 Statement of compliance(a)	 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual 

International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and 

interpretations promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and 

the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial 

statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities on HKSE. A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the 

Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for 

early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) 

provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of 

these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior 

accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements(b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 comprise the 

Group and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost 

basis except that the available-for-sale equity securities are stated at their fair value as explained 

in the accounting policies as set out below (see note 2(g)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the 

financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

(c)	 Changes in accounting policies(c)	 Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRSs there are first effective for the current 

accounting period of the Group:

•	 Amendments to IAS 19, Employee benefits: Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the 

current accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the amended IFRSs are discussed below:

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments to nine standards with 

consequential amendments to other standards. Among them, IAS 24, Related party disclosures 

has been amended to expand the definition of a “related party” to include a management 

entity that provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity, and to require 

the disclosure of the amounts incurred for obtaining the key management personnel services 

provided by the management entity. These amendments do not have an impact on the Group’s 

related party disclosures as the Group does not obtain key management personnel services from 

management entities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Functional and presentation currency(d)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company and its subsidiaries are 

measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 

“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), 

which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(e)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests(e)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 

to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has 

power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from 

the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, 

transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are 

eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting 

from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the 

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly 

to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with 

the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual 

obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each 

business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair 

value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable 

assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within 

equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-

controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income 

for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. 

Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these 

holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position in 

accordance with notes 2(n) or (o) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of 

controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative 

interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (e)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire 

interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any 

interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair 

value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, 

when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see 

note 2(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost 

less impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or 

included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(f)	 Associates and joint ventures(f)	 Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control 

or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy 

decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company and other parties contractually 

agree to share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial 

statements under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a 

disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is 

initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair 

values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, 

the investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s 

net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-date 

excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees 

and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other 

comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the joint venture, the 

Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 

of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment 

under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form 

part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the joint venture.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)	 Associates and joint ventures (f)	 Associates and joint ventures (Continued)(Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates 

and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except 

where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which 

case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained 

interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the 

equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint 

control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, 

with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former 

investee at the date when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value 

and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 

2(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates and joint ventures are 

stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless classified as held for sale (or included 

in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(g)	 Other investments in equity securities(g)	 Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction price 

unless it is determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price 

and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 

liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets. Cost 

includes attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below. (see note 2(j)).

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the 

investments.

(h)	 Property, plant and equipment(h)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses (see note 2(j)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of 

materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate 

proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(v)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)	 Property, plant and equipment (h)	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)(Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and 

equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less 

their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful 

lives as follows:

–	 Leasehold improvements is depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease 

and their estimated useful lives

–	 Land, buildings and structures	 30 years

–	 Equipment	 3-10 years

–	 Motor vehicles	 3-10 years

–	 Furniture, fixtures and others	 3-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost 

of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated 

separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(i)	 Leased assets(i)	 Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the 

Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an 

agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is 

made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether 

the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)	 Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. 

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 

the Group are classified as operating leases except for land held for own use under an 

operating lease, the fair value of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value 

of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held 

under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For 

these purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first entered into 

by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)	 Leased assets (i)	 Leased assets (Continued)(Continued)

(ii)	 Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made 

under the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting 

periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more 

representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease 

incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net 

lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting 

period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line 

basis over the period of the lease term.

(j)	 Impairment of assets(j)	 Impairment of assets

(i)	 Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that are 

stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are 

reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective 

evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that 

comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

–	 significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

–	 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments;

–	 it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

–	 significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 

that have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

–	 a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity 

instrument below its cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)	 Impairment of assets (j)	 Impairment of assets (Continued)(Continued)

(i)	 Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

–	 For investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for under the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements (see note 2(f)), the impairment 
loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its 
carrying amount in accordance with note 2(j)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount in accordance with note 2(j)(ii).

–	 For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for 
equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

–	 For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of 
discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial 
assets share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and 
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial 
assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal 
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that 
which would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in 
prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except 
for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade and bills receivables and other 
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the 
impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account. When the 
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written 
off against the respective receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance 
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other 
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)	 Impairment of assets (j)	 Impairment of assets (Continued)(Continued)

(ii)	 Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the 
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have 
decreased:

–	 property, plant and equipment;

–	 prepayments; and

–	 investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the Company’s 
statement of financial position

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

–	 Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

–	 Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, 
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit 
(or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 
the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of 
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if 
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

–	 Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior 
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in 
which the reversals are recognised.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)	 Inventories(k)	 Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of works of art owned by the Art business. Inventories are carried at 

the lower of cost and management’s estimate of net realizable value.

Cost is valued on a specific identification basis for works of art.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of 

inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense 

in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 

inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 

in the period in which the reversal occurs. Inventories are available for immediate sale. Ultimate 

timing of the sale is hard to predict given the unique nature of each art piece and the cyclicality 

of the global art market.

(l)	 Trade, bills and other receivables(l)	 Trade, bills and other receivables

Trade, bills and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and thereafter stated at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful 

debts (see note 2(j)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties 

without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such 

cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(m)	 Consignor advances(m)	 Consignor advances

Consignor advances are recognised initially at fair value less allowance for impairment of doubtful 

debts (see note 2(j)). It represents financing provided to art collectors prior to their works of art 

being auctioned off, secured by works of art.

(n)	 Interest-bearing borrowings(n)	 Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with 

any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised 

in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, 

using the effective interest method.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)	 Trade and other payables(o)	 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee 

liabilities measured in accordance with note 2(s)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 

are stated at cost.

(p)	 Cash and cash equivalents(p)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with 

banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 

in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(q)	 Employee benefits(q)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution 

retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the 

cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 

rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be 

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer 

withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving 

the payment of termination benefits.

(r)	 Income tax(r)	 Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 

liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in 

profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax 

payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 

respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax 

losses and unused tax credits.

0 8 5



Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)	 Income tax (r)	 Income tax (Continued)(Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 

be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred 

tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the 

reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same 

taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same 

period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a 

tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are 

adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition 

of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are 

taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and 

are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary 

differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets 

or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a 

business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 

extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and 

it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of 

deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation 

or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it 

becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the 

liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 

separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax 

liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group 

has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 

following additional conditions are met:
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)	 Income tax (r)	 Income tax (Continued)(Continued)

–	 in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either 

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

–	 in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either:

–	 the same taxable entity; or

–	 different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts 

of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend 

to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis 

or realise and settle simultaneously.

(s)	 Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities(s)	 Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)	 Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make 

specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a 

loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being 

the transaction price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially 

recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is 

received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in 

accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such 

consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or 

loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in 

profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. 

In addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with note 2(s)(ii) if and when (i) it 

becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the 

guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the 

amount currently carried in trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the 

amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)	 Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (s)	 Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)(Continued)

(ii)	 Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the 

Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is 

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle 

the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 

amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(t)	 Revenue recognition(t)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided 

it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if 

applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Art business and auction

(i)	 Revenue from auction service

Auction service revenue is generally recognised upon settlement of consideration with 

purchasers and/or sellers and when the related services are provided. Auction service 

revenue includes buyer premium and seller side commission which are based on a 

percentage of auction sales.

Interest income earned from consignor advances is recognised as it accrues using the 

effective interest method.

(ii)	 Revenue from art business

Revenue from art business is recognised in the period in which the sale is completed, title 

to the property passes to the purchaser and services have been rendered. The carrying 

value of art business’ inventory sold during the period is recorded as cost of inventories.

(iii)	 Revenue from investment consultation

Revenue from consultation service is recognised when services have been rendered.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)	 Revenue recognition (t)	 Revenue recognition (Continued)(Continued)

Performance and theatre management

(i)	 Revenue from show performance

Income from show performance is recognised when the services have been rendered to 

the audiences.

(ii)	 Rendering of theatre management service

Revenue from theatre management is recognised upon the fulfilment of service based 

on the service contract terms over a period of time. Contracts are generally signed with 

government agencies relating to theatre management services provided by the Group.

(iii)	 Rendering of design and consultation services

Revenue from design and consultation services rendered is recognised using the 

percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the percentage of contract 

costs incurred to date to estimated total contract costs for the contract. When the 

outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 

extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Revenue from other services rendered is recognised upon the delivery or performance of 

the services.

(iv)	 Rental income – theatre rental

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal 

instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis 

is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased 

asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the 

aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in 

the accounting period in which they are earned.

Cinema investment and management

(i)	 Movie box office takings

Income from box office takings is recognised when the services have been rendered to 

the audiences.

Income from gift voucher purchase is recognised when customers exchange for goods or 

services or upon expiry.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)	 Revenue recognition (t)	 Revenue recognition (Continued)(Continued)

Others

(i)	 Government grants

Government grants are recognised initially when there is reasonable assurance that they 

will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them. 

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income 

in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 

incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from 

the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or 

loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(ii)	 Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to 

receive payment is established.

(iii)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(u)	 Translation of foreign currencies(u)	 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling 

at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains 

and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of operations which have a functional currency other than RMB are translated into 

RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of 

the transactions. Statement of financial position items are translated into RMB at the closing 

foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange 

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating 

to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on 

disposal is recognised.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)	 Borrowing costs(v)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that 
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare 
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(w)	 Related parties(w)	 Related parties

(a)	 A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)	 Segment reporting(x)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial 

statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most 

senior executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the 

performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes 

unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature 

of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the 

methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 

environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 

share a majority of these criteria.

3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES IN 
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group’s financial condition and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods, 

assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of the financial statements. The Group bases 

the assumptions and estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the 

Group believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making judgments about matters that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. 

Actual results may differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgments and other uncertainties affecting application 

of those polices and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and assumptions are 

factors to be considered when reviewing the financial statements. The principal accounting policies 

are set forth in note 2. The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involve the most 

significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

(a)	 Valuation of artworks inventory(a)	 Valuation of artworks inventory

Valuation of artworks inventory is subjective and the net realisable value fluctuates over time. 

Management relies on the valuation opinion of specialists who consider a number of factors 

including 1) recent transactions for comparable works of art and 2) supply and demand and 

current economic environment. Due to the subjectivity involved in estimating the realisable value, 

if the artwork market deteriorates and the overall economic condition were to deteriorate, actual 

write-offs would be higher than estimated.
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES IN 
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)	 Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts(b)	 Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts resulting from the inability 

of the customers and other debtors to make the required payments. The Group bases the 

estimates on the aging of the receivable balance, debtors’ credit-worthiness, and historical write-

off experience. If the financial condition of the customers and debtors were to deteriorate, actual 

impairment losses would be higher than estimated.

(c)	 Impairment losses of non-current assets(c)	 Impairment losses of non-current assets

In considering the impairment losses that may be required for certain of the Group’s assets 

which include property, plant and equipment, long-term prepayments, investments in associates 

and joint ventures and unquoted equity investment, recoverable amount of the asset needs to 

be determined. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the 

value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price because quoted market prices for 

these assets may not be readily available. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows 

generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgment 

relating to items such as level of sales volume, selling price and amount of operating costs. 

The Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable 

approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable 

assumptions and projections of items such as sales volume, selling price and amount of 

operating costs.

(d)	 Recognition of deferred tax assets(d)	 Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses and tax credit carried forward and deductible 

temporary differences are recognised and measured based on the expected manner of realisation 

or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts of deferred tax 

assets, expected taxable profits are estimated which involves a number of assumptions relating 

to the operating environment of the Group and requires a significant level of judgment exercised 

by the directors. Any changes in such assumptions and judgments would affect the carrying 

amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the net profit in future years.

(e)	 Income tax(e)	 Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining 

the provision for income tax. There are transactions during the ordinary course of business, for 

which calculation of the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is 

different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 

tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. Recognition 

of deferred tax depends on the management’s expectation of future taxable profit that will be 

available. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES IN 
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)	 Contingent liabilities(f)	 Contingent liabilities

Management judgment is required in the area of contingent liabilities’ particularly in assessing the 

outcome of possible obligations arising from the transactions as detailed in note 27. Management 

reassesses the likelihood of the outcome of these possible obligations at each end of the 

reporting period. Where a change in the probability that an outflow of economic resources will 

be required to settle the obligation, a provision will be recognised in the period in which such 

determination is made.

4	 REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in art business and auction, performance and theatre management 

and cinema investment and management.

Revenue mainly represents commission from auction services, the sales value of artworks and cultural 

relic collections, art investment consultation and other services, income from theatre management, box 

office income from performances and income from cinema box office. The amount of each significant 

category of revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Revenue from art business and auction 905,696 1,013,929

Revenue from performance and theatre management 973,478 838,567

Revenue from cinema investment and management 597,536 384,864

Revenue from other services 28,255 5,664
   

2,504,965 2,243,024
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5	 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by subsidiaries, which are organised by business lines. In a manner 

consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive 

management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has 

presented the following three reportable segments:

–	 Art business and auction: including auction, buy and sell of Chinese antiques, Chinese modern 

and contemporary calligraphy and painting, Chinese ancient calligraphy and painting, Chinese 

oil painting and sculpture and other Chinese cultural relics and artwork. It also provides artwork 

investment consultation and other services and earns interest revenue from consignor advances.

–	 Performance and theatre management: including daily management of theatre, arrangement of 

performances, leases of theatres and theatre design consultation services.

–	 Cinema investment and management: including cinema construction and cinema operation.

(a)	 Segment results, assets and liabilities(a)	 Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments, 

the Group’s senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable 

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of interest in joint ventures and associates, 

other financial assets, deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include 

all liabilities with the exception of tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate 

liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to revenue 

generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.

Segment profit represents revenue less cost of sales, and includes selling and distribution 

expenses and administrative expenses directly attributable to the segment. Items that are not 

specifically attributable to individual segments, such as unallocated head office and corporate 

other revenue and other net income, share of profits less losses of associates, share of losses 

of joint ventures, depreciation, finance income, finance costs and unallocated head office 

and corporate expenses are not included in segment profit. In addition to receiving segment 

information concerning segment profit, management is also provided with segment information 

concerning depreciation, finance income and finance costs.
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5	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Segment results, assets and liabilities (a)	 Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)(Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior 

executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 

performance for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is set out below:

Year ended December 31, 2015
 

Art business
and auction

Performance 
and theatre

 management

Cinema
investment and

management Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Revenue from external customers 905,696 973,478 597,536 2,476,710
Inter-segment revenue 26,321 – – 26,321
     

Reportable segment revenue 932,017 973,478 597,536 2,503,031
     

Reportable segment profit 307,971 40,732 104,372 453,075

Depreciation (7,859) (6,625) (72,054) (86,538)
Finance income 71,726 10,710 614 83,050
Finance costs (93,939) – (4,914) (98,853)

Reportable segment assets 4,141,268 538,918 750,461 5,430,647

Reportable segment liabilities 2,935,950 292,924 504,523 3,733,397

Year ended December 31, 2014
 

Art business
and auction

Performance
and theatre

management

Cinema
investment and

management Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Revenue from external customers 1,013,929 838,567 384,864 2,237,360

Reportable segment revenue 1,013,929 838,567 384,864 2,237,360
     

Reportable segment profit 480,167 38,346 71,672 590,185

Depreciation (5,840) (4,219) (49,325) (59,384)
Finance income 48,993 7,215 375 56,583
Finance costs (52,345) – (6,597) (58,942)

Reportable segment assets 3,676,082 469,932 595,064 4,741,078

Reportable segment liabilities 2,386,961 253,257 362,646 3,002,864

Note:	 There was no individual customer that represents more than 10 percent of the Group’s revenue 
during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Further details of concentration of credit risk 
arising from the Group’s customers are set out in note 25(a).
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5	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and (b)	 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and 
liabilitiesliabilities

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 2,503,031 2,237,360
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (26,321) –
Revenue from other services 28,255 5,664
   

Consolidated revenue 2,504,965 2,243,024
   

Profit
Reportable segment profit 453,075 590,185
Revenue from other services 28,255 5,664
Unallocated head office and corporate other 
  revenue and other net gain 59,644 2,813
Share of profits less losses of associates (6,615) 26
Share of losses of joint ventures (5,896) (1,571)
Net gain of disposal of other financial assets 400 –
Depreciation (87,561) (60,313)
Finance income 79,012 81,395
Finance costs (5,094) (22,399)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (64,914) (51,713)
   

Consolidated profit before taxation 450,306 544,087
   

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Assets
Reportable segment assets 5,430,647 4,741,078
Elimination of inter-segment receivables (2,229,756) (1,618,207)
Other financial assets 69,741 100
Interests in associates 4,211 3,426
Interests in joint ventures 32,533 23,429
Deferred tax assets 12,073 11,598
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 2,397,552 2,190,469
   

Consolidated total assets 5,717,001 5,351,893
   

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 3,733,397 3,002,864
Elimination of inter-segment payables (2,229,756) (1,618,207)
Current tax liabilities 62,989 75,877
Deferred tax liabilities 199 187
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 111,349 20,172
   

Consolidated total liabilities 1,678,178 1,480,893
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5	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c)	 Geographic information(c)	 Geographic information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from its operations from external customers is presented 

based on the company’s operation location of incorporation/establishment. Information about 

the Group’s non-current assets other than deferred tax assets is presented based on the 

geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from 

external customers Non-current assets

2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Mainland China 2,302,111 2,017,295 630,971 570,016

Others 202,854 225,729 75,582 4,348
     

2,504,965 2,243,024 706,553 574,364
     

6	 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Other revenue

Government grants 19,591 20,994

Others 3,403 4,307
   

22,994 25,301
   

Other net income

Net foreign exchange gain 35,905 8,171

Net gain on disposal of other financial assets 400 –

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (64) (104)
   

36,241 8,067
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7	 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): 

(a)	 Finance costs(a)	 Finance costs

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Interest expenses 5,471 24,580

Less: interest expense capitalised into property, 

      plant and equipment 377 2,181
   

5,094 22,399
   

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 4.59% per annum (2014: 5.72%).

(b)	 Staff costs(b)	 Staff costs

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Salaries, wages and other benefits 408,704 326,459

Contributions to defined contribution retirement

  plans (note) 45,108 39,149
   

453,812 365,608
   

Note:

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, the Company and its PRC subsidiaries 
participated in defined contribution retirement schemes (the “PRC Schemes”) organised by the relevant local 
government authorities for its employees. The Group is required to make contributions to the PRC Schemes 
at 10% to 21% of average basic salaries of the employees in the cities where the Group operates. The local 
government authorities are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

In addition, the Company and some of its PRC subsidiaries have implemented a supplementary defined 
contribution retirement scheme for the staffs on the voluntary basis. Under the scheme, the Company and its 
PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the PRC Schemes at 5% of average basic salaries of 
the employees in the cities where the Group operates.

The Group has no other material obligation to make payments in respect of pension benefits associated with 
these schemes other than the annual contributions and supplementary retirement plan described above.
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7	 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(c)	 Other items(c)	 Other items

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Depreciation 87,561 60,313

Impairment losses/(recovery)

– trade and bills receivables 16,159 4,198

– deposits, prepayments and other receivables (310) 963

Auditors’ remuneration

– annual audit 3,800 4,260

– IPO audit – 2,417

Operating lease charges 174,146 131,545

8	 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT 
OR LOSS

(a)	 Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:(a)	 Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current tax (Note 23(a))

Provision for the year 118,794 135,938

(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years (579) 1,312
   

118,215 137,250
 ------------------– –-----------------–

Deferred tax (Note 23(b))

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (475) (6,487)
   

117,740 130,763
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8	 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT 
OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax (b)	 Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax 
rates:rates:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Profit before taxation 450,306 544,087
   

Notional tax on profit before taxation, 

  calculated at the rates applicable to profits 

  in the countries concerned (note) 110,756 132,375

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,230 2,215

Tax effect of non-taxable losses/(income) 2,229 (386)

Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 1,877 449

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 1,727 240

Tax effect of use of tax losses in prior years (500) (5,442)

(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years (579) 1,312
   

Actual tax expense 117,740 130,763
   

Note:

The Company and its PRC subsidiaries are subject to standard PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% (2014: 
25%).

Two subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax pursuant to 
the rules and regulations of their respective countries of incorporation. Three subsidiaries of the Group are 
incorporated and carried out business in Hong Kong and are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at 16.5%. 
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant 
countries.
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9	 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as 

follows:

Year ended December 31, 2015
 

Directors’

and

supervisors’

fees

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Discretionary

bonuses

Retirement

scheme

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Executive directors

  Mr. Jiang Yingchun – 535 600 94 1,229

  Mr. Li Nan – 465 549 88 1,102

Independent non-executive directors

  Mr. Li Boqian 126 – – – 126

  Mr. Yip Wai Ming 126 – – – 126

  Ms. Li Xiaohui 126 – – – 126

Supervisor

  Mr. Guo Jianwei – 330 150 25 505
      

378 1,330 1,299 207 3,214
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9	 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2014
 

Directors’

and

supervisors’

fees

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Discretionary

bonuses

Retirement

scheme

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Executive directors

  Mr. Jiang Yingchun – 489 600 84 1,173

  Mr. Li Nan – 437 546 79 1,062

Independent non-executive directors

  Mr. Li Boqian 118 – – – 118

  Mr. Yip Wai Ming 118 – – – 118

  Ms. Li Xiaohui 118 – – – 118

Supervisor

  Mr. Guo Jianwei – 294 389 59 742
      

354 1,220 1,535 222 3,331
      

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors during the year in connection with their 
retirement from employment or compensation for loss of office with the Group, or inducement to join. 
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during 

the year.
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10	 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The number of directors and non-directors included in the five highest paid individuals for the years 

ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are set forth below:

2015 2014

Number of

individuals

Number of

individuals
   

Directors – 2

Non-directors 5 3
   

5 5
   

The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of 

the remaining highest paid individuals are as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Salaries and other emoluments 4,779 1,331

Discretionary bonuses 5,051 1,536

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 62 227
   

9,892 3,094
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10	 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2015 2014

Number of

individuals

Number of

individuals
   

Nil to HKD1,000,000 – –

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 – 3

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 –

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2 –

HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 1 –

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five 

highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss 

of office.

11	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)	 Basic earnings per share(a)	 Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on profit attributable to ordinary equity 

shareholders of the Company of RMB237,790,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 (2014: 

RMB251,519,000) and the weighted average of 246,316,000 ordinary shares (2014: 231,602,608 

ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2015 2014

No. of shares No. of shares
   

Ordinary shares issued at January 1 246,316,000 165,000,000

Effect of issuance of shares – 66,602,608
   

Weighted average number of ordinary

  shares at December 31 246,316,000 231,602,608
   

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share(b)	 Diluted earnings per share

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares throughout the years of 2015 and 2014. 

Accordingly, diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share.
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12	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GroupGroup

Leasehold
improvements

Land,
buildings and

structures Equipment
Motor

vehicles

Furniture,
fixtures and

others
Construction

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Cost:
At January 1, 2014 227,801 44,016 111,487 33,400 32,863 68,569 518,136

Additions 908 – 12,101 3,087 5,080 174,620 195,796
Transfer from construction in progress 115,078 – 60,859 – 1,057 (176,994) –
Reclassification – – 5,823 – (5,823) – –
Disposals – – (217) (855) (510) – (1,582)
        

At December 31, 2014 343,787 44,016 190,053 35,632 32,667 66,195 712,350
----------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------–  

Additions 24,135 – 3,192 4,518 13,173 95,924 140,942
Transfer from construction in progress 70,731 – 35,384 – 2,579 (108,694) –
Disposals – – (1,860) (879) (1,556) – (4,295)
        

At December 31,2015 438,653 44,016 226,769 39,271 46,863 53,425 848,997
----------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------–  

Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2014 (38,888) (9,463) (31,055) (12,836) (17,576) – (109,818)

Charge for the year (29,741) (1,432) (21,159) (3,289) (4,692) – (60,313)
Reclassification – – (1,410) – 1,410 – –
Written back on disposals – – 85 793 506 – 1,384
        

At December 31,2014 (68,629) (10,895) (53,539) (15,332) (20,352) – (168,747)
----------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------–  

Charge for the year (44,062) (1,413) (32,469) (3,624) (5,993) – (87,561)
Written back on disposals – – 1,836 544 1,495 – 3,875
        

At December 31,2015 (112,691) (12,308) (84,172) (18,412) (24,850) – (252,433)
----------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------–  

Net book value:
At December 31, 2015 325,962 31,708 142,597 20,859 22,013 53,425 596,564
        

At December 31, 2014 275,158 33,121 136,514 20,300 12,315 66,195 543,603
        

Construction in progress represents cinemas under construction which are not ready for its intended 

use at the end of the reporting period.
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12	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

CompanyCompany

Leasehold
improvements

Motor
vehicles

Furniture, fixtures
and others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Cost:
At January 1, 2014 4,005 2,941 3,316 10,262

Additions – 432 361 793
     

At December 31, 2014 4,005 3,373 3,677 11,055
----------------– –---------------– –---------------– –---------------–  

Additions – – 662 662
     

At December 31, 2015 4,005 3,373 4,339 11,717
----------------– –---------------– –---------------– –---------------–  

Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2014 (2,202) (1,411) (2,967) (6,580)

Charge for the year (554) (234) (141) (929)
     

At December 31, 2014 (2,756) (1,645) (3,108) (7,509)
----------------– –---------------– –---------------– –---------------–  

Charge for the year (554) (257) (195) (1,006)
     

At December 31, 2015 (3,310) (1,902) (3,303) (8,515)
----------------– –---------------– –---------------– –---------------–  

Net book value:
At December 31, 2015 695 1,471 1,036 3,202
     

At December 31, 2014 1,249 1,728 569 3,546
     

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Unlisted shares, at cost 665,220 609,561

Less: impairment loss – –
   

665,220 609,561
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13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at December 31, 2015, the subsidiaries of the Company are listed as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Beijing Poly Theatre Management Corporation Limited 

  (“Beijing Poly Theatre”) 

  北京保利劇院管理有限公司

The PRC October 10, 2003 100% 100% – Theatre operation 

  management

Beijing Poly Performing Arts Corporation Limited 

  北京保利演出有限公司
The PRC April 24, 2008 100% – 100% Theatre performance 

  and agent services 

Beijing Poly Forbidden City Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  北京保利紫禁城劇院管理有限公司
The PRC May 10, 2004 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Shanghai Oriental Art Center Management Corporation Limited

  上海東方藝術中心管理有限公司
The PRC March 31, 2004 51% – 51% Art center operation 

  management

Dongguan Poly Yulan Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  東莞市保利玉蘭大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC November 24, 2005 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Wuhan Qintai Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  武漢琴台大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC June 22, 2007 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Shenzhen Poly Theatre Performance Corporation Limited (Note1)

  深圳市保利劇院演出經營有限公司
The PRC August 15, 2007 49% – 49% Theatre operation 

  management

Henan Poly Art Center Management Corporation Limited

  河南保利藝術中心管理有限公司
The PRC September 12, 2008 100% – 100% Art center operation 

  management

Yantai Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  煙台市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC May 19, 2009 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Huizhou Poly Culture and Arts Center Management  

  Corporation Limited 

  惠州市保利文化藝術中心管理有限公司

The PRC May 20, 2009 100% – 100% Art center operation 

  management

Changzhou Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  常州市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC May 26, 2009 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Chongqing Poly Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  重慶市保利劇院管理有限公司
The PRC July 20, 2009 66.67% – 66.67% Theatre operation 

  management

Taizhou Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  泰州市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC July 31, 2009 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Wenzhou Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  溫州保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC September 9, 2009 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Hefei Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  合肥保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC September 28, 2009 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Poly (Beijing) Theatre Construction Engineering Consulting 

  Corporation Limited 

 保利（北京）劇院建設工程諮詢有限公司

The PRC October 28, 2002 100% – 100% Engineering 

  and technology 

  management 

  consulting
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Ma’anshan Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  馬鞍山市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC July 22, 2010 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Lishui Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  麗水保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC December 29, 2010 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Qingdao Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  青島保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC August 27, 2010 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Hohhot Poly Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  呼和浩特保利劇院管理有限公司
The PRC March 14, 2011 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Poly Advertisement Co., Ltd.

  保利廣告有限公司
The PRC May 16, 2001 100% – 100% Advertisement agency

Zhangjiagang Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  張家港市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC October 8, 2011 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Yichun Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  宜春市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC December 22, 2011 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

management

Wuxi Grand Theatre Poly Management Corporation Limited

  無錫大劇院保利管理有限公司
The PRC January 17, 2012 60% – 60% Theatre operation 

  management

Yingkou Bayuquan Poly Grand Theatre Management 

  Corporation Limited

 營口市鱍魚圈區保利大劇院管理有限公司

The PRC May 16, 2012 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Dongguan Poly Culture Performing Group Corporation Limited

  東莞保利文化演藝團有限公司
The PRC April 20, 2012 100% – 100% Performance and 

  brokerage

Kunshan Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  昆山市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC July 19, 2012 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Ji’an Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  吉安市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC August 3, 2012 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Changshu Poly Grand Theatre Management Corporation Limited

  常熟市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC November 19, 2012 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Ningbo Culture Square Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  寧波文化廣場保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC January 14, 2013 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Handan Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  邯鄲市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC January 14, 2013 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Dalian Poly Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  大連保利劇院管理有限公司
The PRC February 16, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Shanxi Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  山西保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC May 31, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Shanghai Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  上海保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC August 8, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Weifang Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  濰坊市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC August 30, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Zhoushan Putuo Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  舟山市普陀區保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC November 21, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Weihai Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  威海市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC December 2, 2013 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Nanjing Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  南京保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC March 26, 2014 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Yi Xing Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  宜興市保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC April 17, 2014 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Xiamen Poly Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  厦門保利劇院管理有限公司
The PRC June 20, 2014 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Shenyang Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  沈陽保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC October 27, 2014 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Huanggang Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  黄岡保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC March 06, 2015 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Chongqing Nan’an Poly Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  重慶市南岸區保利劇院管理有限公司
The PRC March 27, 2015 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Changsha Poly concert hall Management Co., Ltd

  長沙保利音樂廳管理有限公司
The PRC August 27, 2015 100% – 100% Theatre operation 

  management

Zhuhai Chengjian Poly Grand Theatre Management Co., Ltd

  珠海城建保利大劇院管理有限公司
The PRC November 27, 2015 51% – 51% Theatre operation 

  management

Beijing Poly International Auction Corporation Limited

  北京保利國際拍賣有限公司
The PRC July 14, 2005 55% 55% – Auction Business

Xiamen Poly International Auction Corporation Limited

  保利（廈門）國際拍賣有限公司
The PRC July 31, 2014 28.05% – 51% Auction Business

Shandong Poly International Auction Corporation Limited

  保利（山東）國際拍賣有限公司
The PRC January 06, 2015 28.05% – 51% Auction Business

Kangoo overseas Ltd.

 康高有限責任公司
British Virgin Islands

  February 22, 2002

55% – 100% Auction agency of 

  overseas art 

  collection

Poly Auction Guangdong Corporation Limited

  廣東保利拍賣有限公司
The PRC November 20, 2003 62.05% 62.05% – Auction of moveable 

  property, real estate,

   intangible assets 

  and artworks

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Guangdong Poly Assets Management Corporation Limited

  廣東保利資產管理有限公司
The PRC December 24, 2010 62.05% – 100% Asset management, 

  acquisition, 

  disposition, 

  restructuring and 

  related consulting 

  business services 

  (except for financial 

  trust and 

  management)

Beijing Poly Art Center Corporation Limited

  北京保利藝術中心有限公司
The PRC March 16, 2007 100% 100% – Sale of cultural relics 

  and artworks 

  (except for auction)

Beijing Poly Contemporary Art Corporation Limited

  北京保利當代藝術有限公司
The PRC January 24, 2014 51% – 51% Art investment 

  management and 

  consulting

Guizhou Poly Culture Development Corporation Limited

  貴州保利文化發展有限公司
The PRC April 10, 2014 51% – 51% Art investment 

  management and 

  consulting

Winteam Culture & Art Holding Corporation Limited

 聯勝文化藝術控股有限公司
British Virgin Islands

  December 12, 2014

100% – 100% Art consulting

Hong Kong Poly Art Centre Corporation Limited

  香港保利藝術中心有限公司
Hong Kong

  December 30, 2014

100% – 100% Sale of cultural relics 

  and artworks 

  (except for auction)

Beijing Poly Art Investment Management Corporation Limited

  北京保利藝術投資管理有限公司
The PRC July 29, 2010 80% 80% – Art investment 

  management and 

  consulting

Poly Auction (Hong Kong) Limited

  保利香港拍賣有限公司
Hong Kong October 30, 2012 55% 38.50% 30% Auction business

Poly Auction Macau Limited

  保利澳門拍賣有限公司
Macau December 18, 2015 28.05% – 51% Auction business

Poly Film Investment Corporation Limited (“Poly Film”)

  保利影業投資有限公司
The PRC August 19, 2002 100% 100% – Radio and television 

  program production;

   film screening, 

  snacks retailing 

  (limited to branches 

  of business)

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Beijing Poly Wanyuan Cinema Corporation Limited

  北京保利萬源影城有限公司
The PRC November 11, 2008 86.67% – 86.67% Cinema operation 

  management

Poly Photography Art (Beijing) Corporation Limited

  保利攝影影像藝術（北京）有限公司
The PRC December 15, 1984 59.17% – 59.17% Photography related 

  services

Guangzhou Poly International Cinema Corporation Limited

  廣州保利國際影城有限公司
The PRC December 9, 2011 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Shanghai Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

 上海保利影城有限公司
The PRC August 24, 2012 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Wuxi Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  無錫保利影院有限公司
The PRC August 1, 2012 100% – 100% Organisation, planning 

  and Organising 

  cultural and art 

  exchange activities; 

  cinema operation 

  management

Rizhao Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  日照市保利影城有限公司
The PRC November 16, 2012 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Shenzhen Poly International Cinema Corporation Limited

  深圳市保利國際影城有限公司
The PRC May 17, 2013 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Shanghai Pudong Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  上海浦東保利影城有限公司
The PRC December 6, 2013 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Guiyang Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  貴陽保利影城有限公司
The PRC April 4, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Nanjing Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  南京保利影城管理有限公司
The PRC April 10, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Shanghai Jiangchuan Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  上海江川保利影城管理有限公司
The PRC June 5, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Chengdu Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  成都保利影城有限公司
The PRC July 30, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Foshan Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

  佛山保利影城有限公司
The PRC October 23, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation 

  management

Kunming Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

 昆明保利影城有限公司
The PRC April 24, 2014 100% – 100% Cinema operation

  management

Suzhou Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

 蘇州保利影城有限公司
The PRC January 7, 2015 100% – 100% Cinema operation

  management

Hefei Poly Cinema Corporation Limited

 合肥保利影城有限公司
The PRC July 6, 2015 100% – 100% Cinema operation

  management
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of company

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held 

by the 

Company

Held

by a 

subsidiary

Principal 

activities
      

Poly Culture Hong Kong Corporation Limited

 保利文化香港有限公司
Hong Kong May 12, 2015 100% 100% – Art business and

  cultural related 

  activities

Poly Culture North America Investment Corporation Limited

  保利文化北美投資有限公司
Canada May 1, 2015 100% – 100% Art business and 

  cultural related 

  activities

Shenzhen Poly Art Plaza Management Corporation Limited

  深圳保利藝術廣場運營管理有限公司
The PRC August 20, 2015 65% 65% – Consulting and 

  business operation

   management

Shenzhen Poly Culture Development Corporation Limited

  深圳保利文化發展有限公司
The PRC October 12, 2015 65% 65% – Consulting and 

  business operation 

  management

Beijing Poly Music Art Development Corporation Limited

  北京保利音樂藝術發展有限公司
The PRC August 7, 2015 60% 40% 20% Organising cultural 

  exchange activities; 

  music and dance 

  training; musical 

  instruments and 

  stationery sales; 

  performance 

  brokerage

The English translation of the company names for entities established in the PRC is for reference only. 

The official names of the companies established in the PRC are in Chinese.

Note 1:	The Company agreed with the shareholder who held in total 45% of ownership and voting power of Shenzhen 
Poly Theatre Performance Corporation Limited, that shareholder would follow the vote of the Company on 
all key decision making including but not limited to financial and operational decisions. Hence, the Company 
had control over Shenzhen Poly Theatre Performance Corporation Limited and classified its investment in 
Shenzhen Poly Theatre Performance Corporation Limited as investments in subsidiaries.

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

1 1 3



Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

13	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing Poly International Auction Corporation 

Limited, the subsidiary of the Group, which has material non-controlling interest (NCI). The summarised 

financial information presented below represents the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Poly 

International Auction Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries before any inter-group elimination with 

other subsidiaries of the Group.

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

NCI percentage 45% 45%

Current assets 2,266,619 1,877,823

Non-current assets 60,678 62,358

Current liabilities (1,786,070) (1,345,781)

Non-current liabilities – (906)

Net assets 541,227 593,494

Carrying amount of NCI 249,935 269,249

Revenue 499,650 580,360

Profit for the year 143,379 268,597

Total comprehensive income 143,375 268,597

Profit allocated to NCI 66,334 121,395

Dividend paid to NCI 92,450 112,500

Cash flows from operating activities 76,063 (167,271)

Cash flows from investing activities (10,041) (586,265)

Cash flows from financing activities 122,795 497,495
   

14	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Unlisted shares, at cost 100,000 85,000 85,000 85,000

Share of net assets (67,467) (61,571) (66,385) (61,571)
     

Total 32,533 23,429 18,615 23,429
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14	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following list contains the particulars of joint ventures, all of which are unlisted corporate entities 

whose quoted market price are not available:

Proportion of 

ownership interest
 

Name of joint venture

Form of 

business 

structure

Place of 

incorporation 

and operation

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held by the

Company

Principal 

activities
      

Beijing Poly Huayi Media and 

  Culture Co., Ltd (note 1) 

 北京保利華億傳媒文化有限公司

Incorporated The PRC 50% 50% Investment holding

Guilin Poly Culture Investment 

  Development Co., Ltd (note 2) 

 桂林保利文化投資發展有限公司

Incorporated The PRC 50% 50% Culture investment and

  consulting services

Anyang Poly Yuetai Property 

  Co., Ltd (note 3) 

 安陽保利悅泰置業有限公司

Incorporated The PRC 50% – Real estate 

  development 

  and sales

Note 1:	Beijing Poly Huayi Media and Culture Co., Ltd (“Poly Huayi”) mainly invest in TV, movie and advertisement 
production in the PRC.

Note 2:	Guilin Poly Culture Investment Development Co., Ltd (“Guilin Poly”) was founded in November 2013 with a 
registered capital of RMB10 million as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The financial statements of 
Guilin Poly were included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 
31, 2013.

On April 11, 2014, the Company and Guangxi Poly Property Group Co., Ltd (“廣西保利置業集團有限公
司”, “Guangxi Property”), a company established in the PRC and a related party of the Company, entered 
into a capital increase agreement. Pursuant to the Capital Increase Agreement, the Company and Guangxi 
Property agreed to make capital contributions of RMB40 million and RMB50 million in cash, respectively, to 
Guilin Poly. Upon completion of the capital increase, the registered capital of Guilin Poly was increased to 
RMB100 million, and the Company’s equity interest in Guilin Poly decreased from 100% to 50%. Guilin Poly 
is jointly controlled by the Company and Guangxi Property. Accordingly, Guilin Poly becomes a joint venture 
investment of the Company.

Note 3:	Anyang Poly Yuetai Property Co., Ltd (“Anyang Poly”) was found in January 29, 2015 with a registered capital 
RMB60 million. The main business of Anyang Poly is real estate development and sales.
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14	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Guilin Poly and Anyang Poly, adjusted for any differences in 

accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, 

are disclosed below:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Losses for the year (11,792) (3,142)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (11,792) (3,142)
   

15	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The other financial assets mainly include loans granted to third parties by Poly Culture North America 

Investment Corporation Limited which bear interest at 10% per annum and are secured by artworks.

16	 INVENTORIES

(a)	 Inventories in the statement of financial position comprise:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Antiques and artworks 1,185,232 1,046,310

Chinese calligraphy and painting 437,257 383,251

Oil painting and sculptures 29,161 29,161

Small value items for resale 7,412 7,069

Low value materials 402 1,766

Drama rights 1,879 1,252
   

1,661,343 1,468,809
   

(b)	 The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss 

is as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Carrying amount of inventories sold 145,211 149,418
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17	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade receivables for sale of goods and rendering of

  services due from:

  – related parties 2,135 1,505

  – third parties 167,936 153,255
   

170,071 154,760
 ------------------– –-----------------–

Bills receivable for sale of goods and rendering of

  services due from:

  – third parties – 147
   

170,071 154,907
------------------– –-----------------–  

Less: allowance for doubtful debts 21,965 5,806
   

148,106 149,101
   

All trade and bills receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) of the Group are expected to be 

recovered within one year.

(a)	 Aging analysis(a)	 Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade and bills receivable of the 

Group, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 month 51,394 33,003

1 to 3 months 4,415 7,967

3 to 6 months 6,292 1,683

6 to 12 months 11,545 13,134

Over 1 year 74,460 93,314
   

148,106 149,101
   

Trade receivables are generally due immediately without credit or within a credit period of two 

months. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 25(a).
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17	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)	 Impairment of trade and bills receivables(b)	 Impairment of trade and bills receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade and bills receivables are recorded using an allowance 

account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the 

impairment loss is written off against trade and bills receivables directly (see note 2(j)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

At January 1 5,806 1,608

Impairment loss recognised 16,605 4,358

Reversal of impairment loss (446) (160)
   

At December 31 21,965 5,806
   

(c)	 Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired(c)	 Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired

The aging analysis of trade and bills receivables of the Group that are neither individually nor 

collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Neither past due nor impaired 10,818 14,444
 ------------------– –-----------------–

Less than 1 month past due – 6,642

1 to 3 months past due 683 4,397

3 to 12 months past due 4,540 3,221

More than 12 months past due 32,528 32,836
   

Amounts past due 37,751 47,096
 ------------------– –-----------------–

48,569 61,540
   

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom 

there was no recent history of default and have a good track record with the Group. Based on 

past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of 

these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are 

still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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18	 CONSIGNOR ADVANCES

Consignor advances are provided by the Group to certain collectors and art dealers with interest. 

Advance is generally provided based on a percentage of auction reserve price.

As at December 31, 2015, 7.9% of the consignor advances was due from the largest debtor related to 

art business and auction (2014: 14.2%).

Interest income from consignor advances is included in “Finance income”.

19	 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

GroupGroup

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Prepayments for auctioned artwork 456,979 498,251

Prepayments for purchase of inventories 10,149 10,293

Prepayments for performance 25,257 30,096

Rental deposits 17,501 14,239

Guarantee deposits 32,126 32,784

Interest receivables from consignor advances 

  on auction artwork 66,632 55,103

Advances to staff for business related activities 12,111 15,602

Others 56,629 43,241
   

677,384 699,609

Less: allowance for doubtful debts 2,202 2,512
   

675,182 697,097
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19	 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

CompanyCompany

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,077,245 1,514,212

Amounts due from other related parties 2,420 7,419

Others 1,635 10,969
   

2,081,300 1,532,600

Less: allowance for doubtful debts 5,304 5,304
   

2,075,996 1,527,296
   

Impairment of deposits, prepayments and other receivablesImpairment of deposits, prepayments and other receivables

Impairment losses in respect of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are recorded using an 

allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case 

the impairment loss is written off against deposits, prepayments and other receivables directly (note 2(j)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, is as follows:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At January 1 2,512 1,549 5,304 5,304

Impairment loss recognised 14 1,200 – –

Reversal of impairment loss (324) (237) – –
     

At December 31 2,202 2,512 5,304 5,304
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20	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position and cash flow statement comprise:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Cash at bank and in hand 1,415,268 1,536,301 306,191 684,619
     

21	 BANK LOANS

(a)	 The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans of the Group is as follows:

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Bank loans

  – Unsecured 92,955 100,000
   

(b)	 The interest rates per annum on bank loans are as follows:

2015 2014

% %
   

Bank loans

  – Fixed rate loans 1.85-3.29 5.60-6.00

  – Variable rate loans 3-month 

USD LIBOR 

plus 1.500%

Not applicable

(c)	 At 31 December 2015, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 year or on demand 25,133 100,000

After 1 year but within 2 years 67,822 –
   

92,955 100,000
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22	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

GroupGroup

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current

Trade payables to

  – related parties 75,089 66,681

  – third parties 190,292 143,226
   

265,381 209,907
   

Interest payables

  – related parties 8,497 8,497

Payables for staff related costs 32,322 39,042

Payables for other taxes and surcharges 37,822 41,893

Dividends payables 34,850 1,700

Other accruals and payables

  – related parties 5,001 13,614

  – third parties 815,786 724,113
   

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,199,659 1,038,766
 ------------------– –-----------------–

Receipts in advance

  – related parties 833 648

  – third parties 297,290 246,387
   

298,123 247,035
 ------------------– –-----------------–

1,497,782 1,285,801
   

Non-current

Payable for purchase of equipment 21,588 18,659
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22	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

CompanyCompany

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Interest payables

  – related parties 8,497 8,497

Payables for staff related costs 732 703

Payables for other taxes and surcharges 2,111 2,207

Other accruals and payables

  – related parties 4,924 536

  – third parties 22,687 8,229
   

38,951 20,172
   

As at December 31, 2015, all current trade and other payables of the Group and the Company are 

expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

23	 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)	 Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:(a)	 Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Tax payable at January 1 75,877 68,930

Provision for the year (note 8(a)) 118,215 137,250

Income tax paid (131,103) (130,303)
   

Tax payable at December 31 62,989 75,877
   

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Tax recoverable at January 1 – (636)

Income tax refund – 224

Income tax written-off – 412
   

Tax recoverable at December 31 – –
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23	 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Continued)

(a)	 Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents: (a)	 Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents: (Continued)(Continued)

Company

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Tax payable/(recoverable) at January 1 2,434 (636)

Provision for the year 30,748 2,434

Income tax (paid)/refund (13,223) 224

Income tax written-off – 412
   

Tax payable at December 31 19,959 2,434
   

(b)	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:(b)	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)	 The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated 

statement of financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax arising from:

Provision for

impairment

of assets

Tax

losses

Accrued

expense

Interest

income Others

Depreciation

allowance

in excess of

the related

depreciation

Exchange

difference on

translation

of financial

statements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

At January 1, 2014 571 1,981 3,997 (2,370) 745 – – 4,924

Credited/(charged) to profit 

  or loss 1,164 2,049 454 1,464 1,543 (187) – 6,487
         

At December 31, 2014 1,735 4,030 4,451 (906) 2,288 (187) – 11,411

Credited/(charged) to profit 

  or loss 3,289 229 (4,306) 906 357 – – 475

Credited/(charged) to reserves – – – – – – (12) (12)
         

At December 31, 2015 5,024 4,259 145 – 2,645 (187) (12) 11,874
         

Note:	 Deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses are related to subsidiaries that were 
established in recent years. They are now progressing to their normal operating stage and 
are deriving profits. Accordingly, it is considered probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available in the future to utilise these unused tax losses before they expire.
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23	 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Continued)

(b)	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b)	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Continued)(Continued)

(ii)	 Reconciliation to the statement of consolidated financial position

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the 

  consolidated statement of financial position 12,073 11,598

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 

  consolidated statement of financial position (199) (187)
   

11,874 11,411
   

(c)	 Deferred tax assets not recognised(c)	 Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(r), the Group has not recognised 

deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of RMB 10,489,000 as at December 31, 

2015, as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses or the temporary 

differences can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities. As of 

December 31, 2015, the unused tax losses of RMB231,000, RMB955,000, RMB1,796,000 and 

RMB7,507,000 will expire at the end of the year 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)	 Movements in components of equity(a)	 Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 

consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the 

changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end 

of the year are set out below:
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24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(a)	 Movements in components of equity (a)	 Movements in components of equity (Continued)(Continued)

Company

Share

capital

Share

premium

PRC

statutory

reserve

Retained

profits Total

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Balance at January 1, 2014 165,000 4,874 56,825 333,675 560,374

Changes in equity for 2014:

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 206,681 206,681

Issuance of shares upon public offering, 

  net of issuing expenses 24(c) 81,316 1,977,574 – – 2,058,890

Appropriation of reserve – – 20,668 (20,668) –
       

Balance at December 31, 2014 and 

  January 1, 2015 246,316 1,982,448 77,493 519,688 2,825,945
       

Changes in equity for 2015:

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 240,972 240,972

Appropriation of reserve – – 24,097 (24,097) –

Dividends approved in respect 

  of the previous year 24(b) – – – (55,914) (55,914)
       

Balance at December 31, 2015 246,316 1,982,448 101,590 680,649 3,011,003
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24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b)	 Dividends(b)	 Dividends

(i)	 Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Final dividend proposed after the end of the 

  reporting period of RMB0.264 per ordinary 

  share (2014: RMB0.227 per ordinary share) 65,027 55,914
   

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised 

as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

(ii)	 Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous 

financial year, approved and paid during the year:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Dividend in respect of the previous financial year, 

  approved and paid during the year, 

  of RMB0.227 per ordinary share 

  (2014: RMB0.95 per ordinary share) 55,914 156,750
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24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c)	 Share capital(c)	 Share capital

Authorised and issued share capital

2015 2014

No. of shares No. of shares

’000 RMB’000 ’000 RMB’000
     

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of RMB1 each 246,316 246,316 246,316 246,316
     

Ordinary shares, issued

  and fully paid:

At January 1 246,316 246,316 165,000 165,000

Issuance of shares upon public

  offering, net of issuing 

  expenses – – 81,316 81,316
     

At December 31 246,316 246,316 246,316 246,316
     

On March 6, 2014, the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong 

Stock Exchange, pursuant to which 70,710,000 ordinary shares of RMB1.00 each were issued at 

the price of HKD33.00 per share by the Company.

On March 14, 2014, in connection with the exercise of the Over-allotment Option, 10,606,000 

ordinary shares with nominal value of RMB1.00 each were issued at the price of HKD33.00 per 

share by the Company.
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24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d)	 Nature and purpose of reserves(d)	 Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)	 Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents contributions from equity shareholders, and the 

difference between the considerations of acquisition or disposal of equity interests from/to 

non-controlling equity owners and the carrying amount of the proportionate net assets.

(ii)	 Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares of the 

Company and proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

(iii)	 PRC statutory reserve

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of its after-tax profit, as 

determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the general 

reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer 

to this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity shareholders. This 

reserve fund can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing capital of the 

Company and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

(iv)	 Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of operations that have functional currency other than the RMB 

which are dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 2(u).

(e)	 Distributability of reserves(e)	 Distributability of reserves

Under the Company Law of the PRC and the Company’s Articles of Association, net profit after 

tax as reported in the statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting 

rules and regulations of the PRC can only be distributed as dividends after allowances have been 

made for the following:

(i)	 Making up prior years’ cumulative losses, if any;

(ii)	 Allocations to the statutory reserve as set out in note 24(d)(iii) above; and

(iii)	 Allocations to the discretionary common reserve if approved by the shareholders.

After the listing of the Company’s shares on HKSE, in accordance with the Articles of Association 

of the Company, the net profit after tax of the Company for the purpose of dividends payment 

will be the lower of (i) the net profit determined in accordance with the accounting rules and 

regulations of the PRC; and (ii) the net profit determined in accordance with IFRSs.
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24	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f)	 Capital management(f)	 Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders 

and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the 

level of risk and by securing access to financing at a reasonable costs.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance 

between the higher equity shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings 

and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to 

the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of liability-to-asset ratio, which is calculated 

as total liabilities divided by total assets. The liability-to-asset ratio of the Group as at December 

31, 2015 was 29.35% (2014: 27.67%). The liability-to-asset ratio of the Company as at 

December 31, 2015 was 1.92% (2014: 0.79%).

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the years ended 

December 31, 2015 and 2014. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to 

externally imposed capital requirements.

25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 

business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by 

the Group to manage these risks are described below:

(a)	 Credit risk(a)	 Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at bank and in hand, trade and bills 

receivables, consignor advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables. Management has 

a credit policy in place and the exposure to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank are deposited in state-owned/controlled PRC banks, 

which the directors assessed the credit risk to be insignificant.

1 3 0



Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

POLY CULTURE GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)	 Credit risk (a)	 Credit risk (Continued)(Continued)

In respect of trade and bills receivables, consignor advances, deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables, credit evaluations are performed on major customers. These evaluations focus on the 

customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into 

account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment 

in which the customer operates. For consignor advances, the evaluations also focus on the 

overall trend of artwork market, and moreover, the relevant artworks will be pledged to the 

Group until the settlement of the consignor advances. The Group generally requires customers to 

settle trade receivables in accordance with contracted terms and other debts in accordance with 

agreements. Credit terms may be granted to customers, depending on the nature of business.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk. The 

receivables from the five largest debtors at December 31, 2015 represented 16% of the total 

trade and bills receivables and other receivables (December 31, 2014: 27%), while 5% of the 

total trade and bills receivables and other receivables were due from the largest single debtor 

(December 31, 2014: 9%).

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company as set out in note 27(a), the Group 

and the Company does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group or 

the Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial 

guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in note 27(a).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from 

trade and bills receivables, consignor advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables are 

set out in notes 17, 18 and 19, respectively.

(b)	 Liquidity risk(b)	 Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure continuity of sufficient funding and flexibility by utilising a 

variety of bank and other borrowings with debt maturities spreading over a range of periods, 

thereby ensuring that the Group’s outstanding borrowing obligation is not exposed to excessive 

repayment risk in any one year.

The Company is responsible for the Group’s overall cash management and the raising of 

borrowings to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current 

and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash 

and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity 

requirements in the short and longer term.
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (b)	 Liquidity risk (Continued)(Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting 

period of the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on 

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual 

rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest 

date the Group and the Company can be required to pay:

Group

2015 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
 

Within

1 year

or on

demand

More than

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but

 less than

 5 years

More than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount at 

31 Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Bank loans (note 21) 26,759 68,807 – – 95,566 92,955

Trade and other payables measured 

  at amortised costs (note 22) 1,199,659 7,909 13,679 – 1,221,247 1,221,247
       

1,226,418 76,716 13,679 – 1,316,813 1,314,202
       

2014 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
 

Within

1 year or

 on demand

More than

1 year but

less than

2 years

More than

 2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount at 

31 Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Bank loans (note 21) 102,567 – – – 102,567 100,000

Trade and other payables measured 

  at amortised costs (note 22) 1,038,766 5,173 13,486 – 1,057,425 1,057,425
       

1,141,333 5,173 13,486 – 1,159,992 1,157,425
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (b)	 Liquidity risk (Continued)(Continued)

Company

2015 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
 

Within

1 year or

on demand

More than

1 year but 

less than

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount at 

31 Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Trade and other payables measured 

  at amortised costs (note 22) 38,951 – – – 38,951 38,951
       

2014 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
 

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than

 5 years

More than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount at 

31 Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Trade and other payables measured 

  at amortised costs (note 22) 20,172 – – – 20,172 20,172
       

(c)	 Interest rate risk(c)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable 

rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest 

rate risk respectively.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings in order 

to manage its interest rate risks. During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, however, 

management of the Group did not consider it is necessary to use interest rate swaps to hedge 

their exposure to interest.
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)	 Interest rate risk (c)	 Interest rate risk (Continued)(Continued)

(i)	 Interest rate profile

The following table details the profile of the Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings 

(interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-bearing financial assets) at the end of the 

reporting period. The detailed interest rates of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings 

are disclosed in note 21.

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Fixed rate borrowings:

Bank loans 80,618 100,000

Floating rate borrowings:

Bank loans 12,337 –
   

Total borrowings 92,955 100,000
   

Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage of 

  total borrowings 86.73% 100.00%
   

(ii)	 Sensitivity analysis

At December 31, 2015, it is estimated that a general increase of 100 basis points in 

interest rates of net floating borrowings, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 

profit after tax and retained profits would have decreased by RMB123,000 (2014: Nil). 

Other components of consolidated equity would not be affected by the general increase/

decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest 

rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the 

exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at the 

end of the reporting period. The impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained 

profits) and other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact 

on interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates.

The estimated 100 basis points increase or decrease represents management’s 

assessment of a reasonable change in interest rates over the period until the next 

reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)	 Currency risk(d)	 Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to 
receivables, payables and cash at bank and in hand that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. 
a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. 
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollars (“USD”) and Hong Kong 
dollars (“HKD”).

(i)	 Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of cash at bank and in hand, receivables and payables denominated in 
foreign currencies, the Group considers that the net exposure to foreign currency risk is 
insignificant. The Group did not hedge its foreign currency exposure.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the PRC government may at its discretion 
restrict access to foreign currencies for current account transactions in the future. 
Changes in the foreign exchange control system may prevent the Group from satisfying 
sufficient foreign currency demands and the Group may not be able to pay dividends in 
foreign currencies to its equity shareholders.

(ii)	 Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to 
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation 
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate 
at the statement of financial position date. Differences resulting from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency are 
excluded.

Group

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Other financial assets
  – in USD 69,741 –
Cash and cash equivalents
  – in USD 1,963 –
  – in HKD 176,552 556,128
Trade and other payables
  – in HKD (425) –
Bank loans
  – in USD (67,822) –
   

Net exposure 180,009 556,128
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)	 Currency risk (d)	 Currency risk (Continued)(Continued)

(iii)	 Sensitivity analysis

The followings are the related foreign currency exchange rates to RMB during the years 

ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

2015 2014 2015 2014
     

HKD 0.8134 0.7876 0.8378 0.7889

USD 6.3063 6.1080 6.4936 6.1190
     

A 5% strengthening of RMB against the following currency as at December 31, 2015 

would have increased the net profit after tax and equity by the amounts shown below. 

Other components of equity would not be affected by the strengthening of RMB against 

foreign currency.

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

HKD (6,605) (20,855)

USD (146) –
   

A 5% weakening of RMB against the above currency as at December 31, 2015 would 

have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currency to the amounts shown 

above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign 

exchange rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to 

the Group’s exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, 

and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes 

in foreign exchange rates over the period until the next reporting period. The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for 2014.
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25	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)	 Fair values(e)	 Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are 

not materially different from their fair values as at December 31, 2015.

(f)	 Estimation of fair values(f)	 Estimation of fair values

The fair values of interest-bearing borrowings and receivables are estimated as the present value 

of future cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates for similar financial instruments.

26	 COMMITMENTS

(a)(a)	 Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, purchase of performances, 

leasehold improvements for cinema investment and management outstanding at December 31, 

2015 not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Contracted for 74,047 57,180

Authorised but not contracted for 969,120 691,199
   

1,043,167 748,379
   

(b)(b)	 At December 31, 2015, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases are payable as follows:

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 1 year 110,079 86,969

After 1 year but within 5 years 343,393 285,959

After 5 years 651,110 621,883
   

1,104,582 994,811
   

The Group leases certain buildings through non-cancellable operating leases. Typically, leases are 

negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease term.
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27	 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a)	 Financial guarantees issued(a)	 Financial guarantees issued

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company issued financial guarantees to banks in 

respect of the bank loans granted to the Company’s subsidiaries as follows:

Company

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Financial guarantees to banks for subsidiaries 92,955 100,000
   

As at the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will 

be made against the Company under any of the guarantees.

(b)	 Contingent liabilities(b)	 Contingent liabilities

As an investment consultant of artwork financing trust plan for certain subsidiaries, the Group 

is obliged to fund the difference if the expected proceeds from the sale of trust assets were 

insufficient to cover the trust principal, trust fee, beneficiary’s expected net gain and relevant tax 

expenses at the expiring date of the trust plan.

As at the end of each reporting period, maximum exposure in respect of trust plan assuming nil 

proceeds at expiring date is as follows:

Group

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trust related 21,000 170,000
   

(c)	 Contingent liability in respect of legal claim(c)	 Contingent liability in respect of legal claim

A number of outstanding litigation matters against the Group had arisen in the normal course of 

its business as at December 31, 2015. With consideration of the professional advice, the Group’s 

management believes such litigation will not have a significant impact on the Group.
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28	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group 

entered into the following significant related party transactions during the years ended December 31, 

2015 and 2014:

(a)	 Key management personnel remuneration(a)	 Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons holding positions with authority and responsibility 

for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including 

the Company’s directors.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the 

Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9, and certain of the highest paid employees as 

disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Short-term employee benefits 7,222 6,367

Post-employment benefits 604 519
   

7,826 6,886
   

Total remuneration was included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)).

(b)	 Name and relationship with related parties(b)	 Name and relationship with related parties

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, transactions with the following parties are 

considered as related party transactions:

Name of party Relationship
  

China Poly Group Corporation

 中國保利集團公司 (“Poly Group”)

Parent and ultimate holding company

Poly Group’s affiliates

 中國保利集團公司附屬公司
Under common control

Beijing Eastern Poly Culture and Art Corporation 

  Limited (“Eastern Poly”)

 北京東方保利文化藝術有限公司

Associate of the Group
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28	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)	 Significant transactions with related parties(c)	 Significant transactions with related parties

The Group is part of a large group of companies under Poly Group and has significant 

transactions and relationships with Poly Group and its affiliates.

The principal transactions which were carried out in the ordinary course of business are as 

follows:

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Sales to

Poly Group and its affiliates 5,967 5,691

Service provided to

Poly Group and its affiliates 10,473 13,471

Receiving Service (note (iii))

Poly Group and its affiliates 209,580 131,655

Office rental from (note (iv))

Poly Group and its affiliates 34,463 30,775

Interest income from

Poly Group and its affiliates 3,514 –

Property management services

Poly Group and its affiliates 10,255 9,761

Borrowings from (note (v))

Eastern Poly – 5,000

Repayment of loans

Eastern Poly 5,000 –

Borrowing costs to

Eastern Poly 233 67
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28	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)	 Significant transactions with related parties (c)	 Significant transactions with related parties (Continued)(Continued)

Notes:

(i)	 Poly Group’s affiliates refer to the entities which are under common control by the same ultimate 
holding company with the Group, and are not the parent or associates of the Group.

(ii)	 The Directors are of the opinion that these related party transactions are arising in the Group’s normal 
course of business.

(iii)	 Receiving service mainly refers to the box office income distributed to Chongqing Poly Wanhe Cinema 
Circuit Co., Ltd (“Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit”). Pursuant to the Cinema Box Office Income Sharing 
Framework Agreement signed between the Group and Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit, Poly Wanhe 
Cinema Circuit provided new film prints to the Group, and the Group then arranged movie screening 
in the cinemas. Both parties agree to split the net cinema box office income generated from the 
movie screening based on the pre-agreed sharing percentage. In turn, Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit 
may then further share the revenue generated from such split with movie distributors and producers 
pursuant to separate agreements among themselves.

(iv)	 Beijing Poly Art Centre Corporation Limited did not pay any rent to Poly Group for its use of office 
space for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

(v)	 Borrowings from Eastern Poly refers to the entrusted loans, which was recognised in trade and other 
payables, of RMB5 million from Eastern Poly.

(d)	 Outstanding balances, including commitment, with related parties(d)	 Outstanding balances, including commitment, with related parties

Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Cash and cash equivalents (note)
Poly Group and its affiliates 469,316 –

Banks deposits with original maturities 
  over three months(note)
Poly Group and its affiliates 30,100 –

Trade and bills receivables
Poly Group and its affiliates 2,135 1,505

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Poly Group and its affiliates 22,134 11,210

Trade and other payables
Poly Group and its affiliates 89,420 89,440

Note:	 The Board announces that on November 5, 2014, the Company and Poly Finance Company Limited 
(“Poly Finance”) entered into the Financial Services Agreement, pursuant to which Poly Finance 
agreed to provide deposit services, credit lending services, settlement services and miscellaneous 
financial services to the Group pursuant to the terms and conditions under the Financial Services 
Agreement. The maximum daily deposit balance for deposit services is RMB1 billion and the 
maximum daily lending balance for credit lending services is RMB0.5 billion. The interest rates of Poly 
Finance are ranged from 1.035% to 4.06% according to the period of bank deposits.
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28	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e)	 Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans(e)	 Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by relevant local 

government authorities for its staff. As at December 31, 2015, there was no material outstanding 

contribution to post-employment benefit plans. Details of the defined contribution retirement 

plans are set out in note 7(b).

(f)	 Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions(f)	 Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of note 28(c) above constitute connected transactions 

or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 

disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the Report from the 

Board of Directors.

29	 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 
DECEMBER 31, 2015

(Expressed in RMB)

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 3,202 3,546

Investments in subsidiaries 13 665,220 609,561

Interest in associates 601 –

Interest in joint ventures 14 18,615 23,429

Other financial assets 15 – 100
    

687,638 636,636
------------------– –-----------------–   

Current assets

Trade and bills receivables 88 –

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 2,075,996 1,527,296

Cash and cash equivalents 20 306,191 684,619
    

2,382,275 2,211,915
------------------– –-----------------–   

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 38,951 20,172

Current taxation 23(a) 19,959 2,434
    

58,910 22,606
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29	 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 
DECEMBER 31, 2015 (Continued)

(Expressed in RMB)

2015 2014

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Net current assets 2,323,365 2,189,309
------------------– –-----------------–   

Total assets less current liabilities 3,011,003 2,825,945
------------------– –-----------------–   

NET ASSETS 3,011,003 2,825,945
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24

Share capital 246,316 246,316

Reserves 2,764,687 2,579,629
    

TOTAL EQUITY 3,011,003 2,825,945
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 24, 2016.

Jiang Yingchun Wang Wei

Director Authorised Non-director

30	 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are 

disclosed in note 24(b)(i).

31	 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

At December 31, 2015, the directors of the Company consider its parent and ultimate holding company 

to be Poly Group Corporation Limited, which is a state-owned enterprise established in the PRC. The 

parent company does not produce financial statements available for public use.
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32	 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the IASB has issued a few amendments and new 

standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 

which have not been adopted in the financial statements. These include the following which may be 

relevant to the Group.

Effective for 

Accounting periods 

beginning on or after
  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle January 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of

  assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture January 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 11, Accounting for acquisitions 

  of interests in joint operations January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 1, Disclosure initiative January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of acceptable methods

  of depreciation and amortisation January 1, 2016

IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers January 1, 2017

IFRS 9, Financial instruments January 1, 2018

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new 

standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has 

concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 

statements.
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Definitions

“Articles” the Articles of Association of the Company

“Beijing Poly Music Art” Beijing Poly Music Art Development Corporation Limited (北京保利音樂藝術
發展有限公司)

“Board” or “Board of Directors” the board of directors of the Company

“Board of Supervisors” the board of supervisors of the Company

“China Culture & Art Financial 

Services”

China Culture & Art Financial Services Company Limited, incorporated in 

Hong Kong on 7 October 2014

“Companies Ordinance” the old Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and 

the new Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as 

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Company”, “Poly Culture” or 

“we”, “us”, “our”

Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited (保利文化集團股份有限公司) and 

except where the context indicates otherwise, all of its Subsidiaries and with 

respect to the period before our Company became the holding company of 

its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by its present subsidiaries 

or (as the case may be) their predecessors

“Connected Person(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Connected Transaction(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Continuing Connected 

Transaction(s)”

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Credit Suisse” Credit Suisse AG

“Corporate Governance Code” Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Directors” the directors of the Company

“Domestic Shares” ordinary shares in our capital, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which 

are subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering

“Glory Zone” Glory Zone Inc Limited, incorporated in Hong Kong on 11 December 2013
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Definitions

“Group” or “our Group” the Company and its Subsidiaries

“H Shares” overseas listed foreign shares in our ordinary share capital, with a nominal 

value of RMB1.00 each

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars” or 

“HK dollars” or “HKD”

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“International Accounting 

Standards”

International Accounting Standards and its notes

“Latest Practicable Date” April 21, 2016, being the latest practicable date for the inclusion of certain 

information in this report prior to its publication

“Listing Date” March 6, 2014

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

“Listing” listing of the H Shares on the Stock Exchange

“Main Board” The stock market operated by the Stock Exchange (excluding the option 

market), which is independent of and operating in parallel with the GEM

“North American Company” Poly North American Investment Company Limited

“Poly Art Centre” Beijing Poly Art Centre Co., Ltd. (北京保利藝術中心有限公司)

“Poly Art Investment” Beijing Poly Art Investment Management Co., Ltd. (北京保利藝術投資管理
有限公司)

“Poly Auction Beijing” Beijing Poly International Auction Co., Ltd. (北京保利國際拍賣有限公司)

“Poly Auction Guangdong” Poly Auction Guangdong Co., Ltd. (廣東保利拍賣有限公司)

“Poly Auction Hong Kong” Poly Auction Hong Kong (保利香港拍賣有限公司)

“Poly Film” Poly Film Investment Co., Ltd. (保利影業投資有限公司)

“Poly Energy” Poly Energy Holdings Limited (保利能源控股有限公司)

“Poly Finance” Poly Finance Company Limited (保利財務有限公司)

“Poly Group” China Poly Group Corporation, a state-owned company incorporated in 

the PRC and our Controlling Shareholder, and (when the context requires) 

including its subsidiaries
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Definitions

“Poly Hong Kong Holdings” Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (保利(香港)控股有限公司)

“Poly Property” Poly Property Group Co., Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, 

with limited liability whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited under the stock code 0119

“Poly Real Estate” Poly Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (保利房地產(集團)股份有限公司), a Company 

incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose shares are listed on 

Shanghai Stock Exchange under the stock code 600048

“Poly Southern” Poly Southern Group Co., Ltd. (保利南方集團有限公司), a state-owned 

company incorporated in the PRC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Poly Group 

and a Substantial Shareholder of our Company

“Poly Tech” Poly Technologies Inc. (保利科技有限公司)

“Poly Theatre Management” Beijing Poly Theatre Management Co., Ltd. (北京保利劇院管理有限公司)

“Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit” Chongqing Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit Co., Ltd. (重慶保利萬和電影院線有限
責任公司), a company incorporated on July 26, 2005 in the PRC and a then 

subsidiary of the Company before being disposed to Poly Group in 2013; 

where applicable, it also refers to the cinema circuit managed by Chongqing 

Poly Wanhe Cinema Circuit Co.,Ltd

“PRC” or “China” or “People’s 

Republic of China”

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this report, excluding 

Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

“Prospectus” the prospectus published by the Company on February 24, 2014

“Reporting Period” the period from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015

“RMB” or “Renminbi” the lawful currency of the PRC

“SASAC” State-Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State 

Council of the PRC

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Share(s)” share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 

each, comprising our Domestic Shares and our H Shares

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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Definitions

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning as defined in Section 2 of the Companies Ordinance

“Supervisor(s)” supervisor(s) of the Company

“U.S.” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories, possessions and all areas subject 

to its jurisdiction

“US$” or “U.S. dollars” or “USD” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

1 4 8



www.polyculture.com.cn 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

  2
0

1
5

P
O

LY
 C

U
LT

U
R

E
 G

R
O

U
P

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TIO

N
 LIM

ITE
D

20
15

ANNUAL
REPORT

(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s 
Republic of China with limited liability)

Stock code: 3636


	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Profile
	Financial Highlight
	Corporate Structure
	Major Events in 2015
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Report from the Board of Directors
	Report from the Board of Supervisors
	Corporate Governance Report
	Corporate Social Responsibilities
	Profile of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Definitions
	Back Cover



